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The National Association of Securities

Dealers, Inc. (NASD®) was organized under

the 1938 Maloney Act amendments to the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 by the secu-

rities industry in cooperation with the U.S.

Congress and the U.S. Securities and

Exchange Commission (SEC). Securities indus-

try representatives—recognizing the need

for, and actively seeking the responsibilities

of, self-regulation—worked with the SEC to

obtain this legislative authority.

Putting into practice the principle of

cooperative regulation, the Maloney Act

authorized the SEC to register voluntary

national associations of broker/dealers for

the purpose of regulating themselves under

SEC oversight. The NASD is the only securi-

ties industry association to have been estab-

lished under the Maloney Act amendments.

Presently, all securities firms in the United

States that transact business with the public

are required by law to be a member of the

NASD.

The NASD’s founding mandate was to

standardize the securities industry’s princi-

ples and practices, to promote high stan-

dards of commercial honor, to advance just

and equitable principles of trade for the pro-

tection of investors, to adopt and enforce

rules of fair practice, and to foster obser-

vance by its members of federal and state

securities laws.

The NASD, taking direction from the SEC

in 1963, has also adopted, as another tenet

of its self-regulatory mandate, the promo-

tion of capital formation by developing,

operating, and regulating fair and efficient

screen-based securities markets. The Nasdaq

Stock MarketSM (Nasdaq®) was founded in

1971 to fulfill this mandate.

The NASD is the largest securities-industry self-

regulatory organization in the United States.

It operates The Nasdaq Stock Market—the

world’s largest screen-based stock market

and the second largest securities market in

dollar value of trading—and other screen-

based markets.The NASD also oversees the

activities of the U.S. broker/dealer profession

and regulates Nasdaq and the over-the-

counter securities markets through the largest

self-regulatory program in the country.

The NASD consists of a parent corpora-

tion that sets the overall strategic direction

and policy agendas of the entire organiza-

tion and ensures that the organization’s

statutory and self-regulatory obligations are

fulfilled.Through a subsidiary,The Nasdaq

Stock Market, Inc., the NASD develops and

operates a variety of marketplace systems

and services and formulates market policies

and listing criteria.Through another subsidiary,

NASD Regulation, Inc. (NASD RegulationSM),

the NASD carries out its regulatory functions,

including on-site examinations of member

firms, continuous automated surveillance of

markets operated by the Nasdaq subsidiary,

and disciplinary actions against broker/dealers

and their professionals.

Cover: Nasdaq’s new Trumbull,

Connecticut, Data Center commands

an advanced securities trading 

computer network sending market

information to terminals in 52 coun-

tries worldwide.

Opposite: Data mining and

advanced graphic visualization 

provide powerful new technology

tools for NASD market regulators.

Origin Profile



AABC
AACE
AADV
AAFG
AAGIY
AAGP
AAHS
AAII
AAIR
AALA
AAME
AANB
AAON
AAPL
AASI
AATI
AATT
ABACF
ABAG
ABAN
ABAX
ABBBY
ABBK
ABCB
ABCC
ABCL
ABCO
ABCR
ABCW
ABDR
ABERF
ABEV
ABFI
ABFS
ABIIB
ABIO
ABIX
ABMC
ABMD
ABND
ABPA
ABPCA
ABREF
ABRI
ABRX
ABSC
ABTC
ABTE
ABTI
ABTX
ACAI
ACAJ
ACAM
ACAP
ACARE
ACAS
ACAT
ACCC
ACCL
ACCOB
ACCS
ACCUF
ACEC
ACEI
ACEL
ACEP
ACES
ACET
ACHI
ACIT
ACLE
ACLR
ACLY
ACMI
ACMM
ACMR
ACMTA
ACNAF
ACNS
ACNTF
ACOL
ACRG
ACRI
ACRN
ACRO
ACRT

➜
1997 Nasdaq-listed

companies. Black
denotes new listings.

Our Mission is to facilitate 

capital formation by creating

the market of choice —  

operated and regulated to

achieve the most liquid,

cost-efficient, technologically

advanced, and fair securities

market in the world for 

the benefit and protection 

of investors.
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National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.

Member firms 5,597 

Member branch offices 62,966

Registered representatives 556,024

The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

Annual share volume 163.9 billion

Annual dollar volume $4.5 trillion

Average daily share volume 647.8 million

Average daily dollar volume $17.7 billion

Market capitalization $1.83 trillion

Companies listed 5,487

Issues listed 6,208

Market Makers 530

Foreign securities and American

Depositary Receipts (ADRs) 500 (Issues) 

International share volume

(foreigns and ADRs) 9.4 billion

International dollar volume

(foreigns and ADRs) $191.9 billion

Number of initial public offerings 497

Value of initial public offerings $19.6 billion

Number of secondary public offerings 357

Value of secondary public offerings $19.9 billion

Nasdaq Index Year-end Percent

Close Change

Composite 1570.35 21.6%

Industrials 1221.03 10.0%

Computers 618.66 19.3%

Bank 2083.22 63.6%

Insurance 1797.95 22.7%

Finance 2503.68 57.0%

Transportation 1064.77 17.3%

Telecommunications 306.60 42.0%

Biotech 303.10 -0.1%

Nasdaq-100 990.80 20.6%

Financial-100 2039.86 56.7%

NNM* Composite 710.36 22.4%

NNM* Industrials 505.38 11.7%

*Nasdaq National Market

NASD Regulation, Inc.

Compliance

Routine and cause examinations conducted 13,745

Terminations for cause received 4,483

Terminations for cause completed 4,454

Other cause examinations completed 1,315

Customer complaints received 5,448

Customer complaints completed 5,662

Disciplinary Actions

New disciplinary actions filed 1,032

Formal actions resolved 1,235

Firms expelled from membership 9

Individual registrations revoked 111

Individuals barred from the industry 428

Firms suspended from membership 4

Individuals suspended 236

Automated Market Surveillance

Formal investigations conducted 375

Cases referred to the SEC (insider trading) 138

Advertising

Items reviewed from filings, spot checks,

and investigations 61,810

Corporate Financing

Underwriting arrangements reviewed 2,251

Public offerings reviewed ($ billions) $354.8

Arbitration

Cases filed 5,997 

Cases closed 5,880

Disputes resolved between parties

without arbitration 4,024

Industry cases arbitrated 359

Customer cases arbitrated 1,497

Cases decided in favor of customers 875

Mediation

Cases brought 868

Cases closed 865

Cases settled 683

Qualifications

Registered representative and

principal tests administered 282,353

Continuing Education

Training sessions delivered 114,000

1997 Statistical Highlights | As of December 31, 1997
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Letter From the Chairman

or the NASD, 1997 was a very strong year.We successfully implemented the new order handling

rules; upgraded our network and trading technologies; processed a record 1.4 billion shares 

on Nasdaq last October 28th, equating to 1,200 messages and nearly 60,000 shares a second;

enhanced our regulatory and enforcement capability; streamlined our corporate governance

structure to expedite decision-making; launched two Web-based services—Nasdaq Online and

nasdaqtrader.com; created MarketSite in New York—a physical and visual presentation of our mar-

ket; and proposed enhancements to our trading sys-

tem—a streamlined order routing and execution

system and voluntary, consolidated limit order file.

Year-End Financial Summary

1997 results show record revenues in excess of

$630 million; over $100 million or 21% ahead of the

previous year. Net income was $36 million.

Robust finances were largely fueled by sharp

growth in Nasdaq trading volume (up 19% to an

average of 648 million shares per day). Results were

also driven by rapidly escalating use of Nasdaq’s

order routing, execution and comparison systems.

Revenues from these systems and fees from sales

of market information amounted to $268 million;

over $76 million or 40% higher than the prior year.

The population of professional retail, institutional,

trader, and non-professional Nasdaq subscribers

rose over 24% to a record 415,000 devices.

On the regulatory side, assessments based on members’ business volumes grew by $16

million to $81 million or 25%, providing needed funding for regulatory initiatives aimed at

responding to SEC requirements and other emerging regulatory issues.

Additionally, the Board passed a series of pricing changes applicable to our dispute resolu-

tion service, the largest alternative dispute resolution service in the United States, to provide

needed resources for the growing demand for its use.

Management also directed its attention to the organization’s cost structure.“Reinvesting For

Our Future” was launched, which, to date, has identified cost savings of $38 million or 6.5% of

budget. Savings will fund higher priority initiatives and operations in 1998 and future years.

The NASD began 1998 with nearly $180 million in working capital and approximately $400

million in members’ equity. The level of working capital remains solid despite 1997 peak year

capital expenditures of more than $120 million largely for major expansion of the Nasdaq

Data Center and market system capacity upgrades.

Market Strengths

Our overriding market goal is putting investors first, providing them with the most complete

information, best services and most efficient execution—at the lowest possible cost.

In 1997, we improved the way we provide information to market participants and investors

by enhancing the Nasdaq Web site, and introducing two new ones. Nasdaq Online offers

issuers timely market information, and nasdaqtrader.com links market participants with trading

data, services and news about The Nasdaq Stock Market.

Our market was put to the supreme test on October 27th and 28th last year, and passed

with flying colors. Due to the commitment of our Market Makers and our efforts to increase

the capacity of our systems, Nasdaq opened trading in all its 5,500 listed companies on time at

Frank G. Zarb, Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer

F

http://www.nasdaqtrader.com/dynamic
http://www.nasdaqtrader.com/dynamic
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9:30 a.m. It broadcast continuous, real-time price quotes, without interruption or delay, for all

its listed companies from opening to close. Nasdaq.com received more than 20 million hits on

October 28th, and provided the public with continuous and accurate market news.

Nasdaq Market Makers did their job superbly, stepping up to provide investors with contin-

uous liquidity. On October 27th, they provided $495 million to purchase stock for which it was

not clear there would be any buyers the next morning.

Last November, we signed an agreement with MCI to upgrade Nasdaq’s communications

network to handle a four-billion share day by the year 2000—more than doubling its capacity

over the next two years. The network will be scalable to 8 billion shares a day.

Nasdaq, in “shaping the new world of investing,” plans a streamlined, integrated order routing

and execution system—which will replace the Small Order Execution SystemSM (SOESSM) that auto-

matically executes the trades of the individual investor and SelectNetSM, the automated trade negoti-

ating system for Market Makers—as well as a voluntary, consolidated limit order file. This initiative is

designed to increase market quality, allowing individual investors to compete equally with other

market participants for price improvement while reducing cost.This proposal awaits SEC approval.

Regulatory and Enforcement Developments

In 1997, major efforts were made to enhance NASD’s leadership as the premier self-regulatory

organization in the world, particularly in the area of regulatory technology. Our regulatory pro-

grams made considerable headway. NASD Regulation conducted 13,745 examinations,both

routine and for cause,and filed 1,032 new disciplinary actions.

District Office staffs successfully assumed an extremely ambitious examination schedule.

Regulatory staff worked tirelessly on a number of initiatives to continue to ensure the integrity of our

securities markets, including regulations designed to prevent abusive cold calling; requirements to

reduce potential investor confusion in the sale of securities on bank premises; a proposed pilot pro-

gram for the presentation of bond fund volatility ratings in supplemental sales literature; rules con-

cerning the presentation of certain related performance information in mutual fund sales material;

and requirements governing the payment of noncash and cash compensation.

Self-regulation also means helping member firms and their professionals understand and

comply with securities laws and regulations. So, NASD Regulation enhanced its Web site,

nasdr.com, among other resources, to make sure we communicate with our members,

registered representatives and investors quickly and easily. In addition, the NASD expanded

the Continuing Education program and began preventive compliance seminars.

During 1997, NASD Regulation continued enhancing technologically its Public Disclosure

Program. Investors were not only able to request broker background information on-line

through nasdr.com, they were also able to obtain the requested information through e-mail.

Eventually in 1998, investors will be able to view this data on-line.

1998 Objectives

For 1998 the NASD and subsidiaries have set an ambitious agenda.

First, we recognize that significant market forces are demanding that we reshape our busi-

ness and respond to changes in the world around us. Every segment of our industry is demand-

ing improvements from the present market structure and the process of  “stock exchanging”.

They expect us to continue fulfilling our capital formation function and constructing the next

generation of markets, with the capacity to provide instant price discovery, immediate execution

and liquidity in an orderly and fair environment.This must be accomplished in a well-regulated

and low-cost environment.

To respond to these changing forces we are evaluating the different approaches to services

being demanded by the marketplace.

http://www.nasdaq.com
http://www.nasdr.com
http://www.nasdr.com
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Second, we intend to implement strategies that work in tandem with Nasdaq’s screen-

based technology to support our market making firms, providing the most efficient and most

liquid trading environment. Toward that end, we will move to secure an actual size standard

that reduces Market Maker costs by changing a regulatory requirement that they display a

quotation size of at least 1,000 shares. This will potentially benefit investors through lower

spreads and decreased volatility. In addition, we will work to ensure that Market Makers are

fairly compensated for the capital they put at risk and the liquidity they provide investors and

issuers in publishing and electronically executing against their two-sided quotes.

Third, NASD Regulation will continue to identify new and innovative ways to protect

investors. Regulatory initiatives approved for implementation include strengthening continu-

ing education requirements and developing the Order Audit Trail SystemSM (OATSSM). OATS will

enable NASD Regulation to recreate entire customer order lifecycles. NASD Regulation’s exami-

nation process will also change in 1998 as we make greater use of emerging technology and

move toward risk-based examinations.

Fourth, we will provide increased investor protection in the microcap market. In December 

we proposed a series of changes that, following committee input and Board approval, would

significantly increase timely and accurate information about the companies not listed on

Nasdaq or a national securities exchange.

Our fifth priority for the new year is to maintain technological leadership in both the market

and regulatory areas.

On the market side, we will begin the process of implementing our new Enterprise Wide

Network II (EWN II) trading system. In addition to being one of the world’s largest intranets,

EWN II will surpass Nasdaq’s current system as one of the world’s fastest trading networks. It

will also be able to accommodate literally tens of thousands more traders who will provide

additional liquidity. At the same time, we will continue our program to manage Year 2000

computer conversion and move toward decimal pricing.

On the regulatory side, the coming months will see increased modernization of the Central

Registration Depository (CRDSM), the automated registration system serving the securities industry

and regulators.NASD Regulation is also in the process of developing an Internet surveillance system

that will increase its effectiveness in monitoring the Web for indications of potential securities fraud.

Priority six is to build on the progress we have made through our Reinvesting Program.

A seventh and final priority involves finding new ways to make self-regulation more relevant by

creating the Small Firm Advisory Board to focus squarely on issues of concern to small member

firms; further developing our preventive compliance programs to include a regulatory technolo-

gy conference to help our members, as well as others, address the growing list of related issues

they confront; and, establishing an “NASD Academy,”where industry and regulatory professionals

can continue to hone their skills in the expanding area of securities compliance.

In essence, our role is one of service. This includes continuing to create the market of

choice for the investor—providing leadership, the most complete information, and the best

execution. Integrity, ensured through effective regulation, is the rock on which our structure

rests. Together, with a seasoned and dedicated management team, we look forward to main-

taining a market second to none for the benefit of the investing public worldwide.

Frank G. Zarb

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.

March 11, 1998
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Shaping the new
world of investing

NASD 1997
year in review

Nasdaq Washington, D.C.,

operations.
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The Nasdaq Composite is up
almost 320% since 1990,compared
with 200% for the Dow Jones
Industrial Average and 194% for
the S&P 500.

Nasdaq’s dollar
volume has
grown 891%
and market cap-
italization 490%
since 1990,
faster than any
other major 
U.S.market.

Securities industry expert and NASD

President Richard G. Ketchum oversees

development of Nasdaq-related 

legal, regulatory and market policies 

as well as globalization of the 

securities markets.

Nasdaq’s share volume surpassed that

of the NYSE 250 out of 253 trading

days—99 percent of all trading days.

Chinese Ambassador Zhou Wenzhong

was among over 1,100 representatives

from 87 countries who visited the 

NASD in 1997.

Nasdaq traded nearly 1.4 billion shares

on October 28, more than any other

market ever, surpassing the previous

record held by Nasdaq of 971 million

shares on October 9. In 1997, volume

surpassed the 1996 record of 877 mil-

lion shares on six occasions.

The most active
best perform
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Nasdaq dollar volume was 
$4.48 trillion in 1997,equal to the
combined dollar volume of the
London,Paris,and Tokyo stock
exchanges.

For the third
year in a row,
Nasdaq was the
most active
stock market in
the United
States,trading
164 billion
shares in 1997.
Nasdaq aver-
aged 648 million
shares per day.

Charles Balfour, Managing Director,

Nasdaq International, Michael W.

Brown, Chairman of The Nasdaq Stock

Market, Inc., John T.Wall, President,

Nasdaq International Ltd., and Patrick

Sutch, Director, Asia/Pacific Business

Development, Nasdaq International, in

Hong Kong to discuss capital-raising

features of Nasdaq.

Federal Reserve Chairman Alan

Greenspan was among key govern-

ment officials who met with Nasdaq-

listed company executives at the

Nasdaq CEO Roundtable on June 24 

in Washington, D.C.

Nasdaq was present in Moscow for

talks on the advantages of a Nasdaq

listing and the greater liquidity provid-

ed by screen-based, multiple market

maker trading.

International Securities Markets
 

and
ing stock market
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CCMC
CCOM
CCON

CCOW
CCRD
CCRI

CCRO
CCSC
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SAFECO Corporation, whose market

capitalization has grown by 110% in 

the last three years to $6.9 billion, com-

pleted the acquisition of American

States Insurance in 1997.

L. M. Ericsson Telephone Company,

a leading provider of advanced 

systems, products, and services for 

handling voice, data, image, and text 

in public and private wired and mobile

communications networks, saw its

market capitalization grow 173% over

the past three years to $10.5 billion.

WorldCom, Inc. signed a definitive merger

agreement with MCI Communications

Corp. in 1997 in the largest merger in U.S.

history.Following the merger,expected

to close in mid 1998,WorldCom will be one

of the world’s leading providers of telecom-

munications services. Its market capitaliza-

tion has grown by over 1,046% over the

past three years to $27 billion.

Over the past three fiscal years,

Starbucks Corporation’s market 

capitalization has risen over 300% 

to over $3 billion.

More compa-
nies have 
chosen Nasdaq
as their market
than all other
U.S.markets
combined.

More international companies list
their shares or ADRs on Nasdaq
than on all other U.S.stock mar-
kets combined.

In the Business Week list of 
“Hot Growth Companies”
(May 26,1997),92 out of 100 
were listed on Nasdaq.

The ma
growth compan



CCSE
CCSI
CCTVY
CCUR
CCUUY
CCVD
CCWW
CDCO
CDCR
CDEN
CDIC
CDIR
CDIS
CDLI
CDMS
CDOC
CDRD
CDRM
CDTI
CDTS
CDWC
CDWI
CDWN
CEBC
CEBK
CECE
CECX
CEDR
CEFT
CEGE
CELG
CELL
CELS
CELT
CEMX
CENB
CENF
CENI
CENT
CENX
CEON
CEPH
CERB
CERN
CERS
CESH
CETV
CEXP
CFAC
CFAM
CFBC
CFBX
CFCI
CFCM
CFCP
CFFC
CFGI
CFIC
CFIM
CFIN
CFMT
CFNC
CFON
CFSB
CFTP
CFWC
CFWY
CGCO
CGCP
CGEN
CGGI
CGIX
CGNX
CGPI
CGRM
CGUL
CHAI
CHANF
CHAR
CHAT
CHCA
CHCO
CHCS
CHDN
CHDX
CHEF
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Reuters Holdings PLC, the world’s

leading news and financial information

company — feeding over 400,000

computer terminals in 163 countries —

experienced a 219% growth in market

capitalization over the last 10 years 

to $4.14 billion.

Staples, Inc., a leading office supply

discounter, has seen its market capital-

ization grow by 193% in the last three

years to $4.5 billion.

Costco Companies, Inc., which 

operates over 280 warehouse clubs

worldwide, has seen its market 

capitalization grow by 239% in the 

last three years to $9.5 billion.

Quintiles Transnational Corp.
provides full-service contract research,

sales, marketing and healthcare policy 

consulting and health information

management services to the worldwide

pharmaceutical, biotechnology, med-

ical device and healthcare industries.

The Nasdaq-100 Index®,tracking
Nasdaq’s leading companies,has
risen 394% from 1990 through
1997,making it the fastest growing
index in the U.S.equity markets.

Nasdaq is currently
enjoying a loyalty
rate of over 
98% among its 
companies.

rket of choice for
ies worldwide



CHERB
CHEX
CHEZ
CHFC

CHGO
CHIR

CHKE
CHKPF

CHKR
CHLN

CHMD
CHML
CHMP
CHNA
CHNL
CHPS
CHRB
CHRI

CHRS
CHRT

CHRW
CHRX
CHRZ
CHSE
CHST
CHTL
CHTT
CHUX
CIAO
CIBI

CIBN
CICC
CICI

CICS
CIEN
CIGR

CIMA
CIMTF

CINF
CINRF

CINS
CIRQF

CISC
CITA
CITY
CIVC

CKEYF
CKFB
CKFR
CKSG
CLAS
CLBK

CLCDF
CLCI

CLCP
CLCX

CLDN
CLFY
CLGY
CLHB
CLMT
CLNP

CLNTF
CLPZF

CLRI
CLRT
CLSR
CLST

CLTDF
CLTK
CLTR
CLTY

CLWTF
CLWY
CLXX
CLYS
CLZR

CMAG
CMCAF

CMCI
CMCO

CMCSA
CMDA
CMDL
CMDR
CMED
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Nasdaq will increase its current trading

capacity from 1.5 billion shares per 

day to more than 4 billion shares by the

year 2000, scalable to 8 billion.

Nasdaq’s screen-based trading technol-

ogy is emulated around the world.

According to the Federation

Internationale des Bourses de Valeurs,

Paris, of the 45 developed stock markets

in the world today, only three still rely

exclusively on a trading floor.The rest

either are entirely screen-based (28) or

employ screen-based trading to supple-

ment transactions done on a trading

floor (14).

Bert C. Roberts, Jr., Chairman, MCI
Communications Corporation and

Frank G. Zarb, NASD Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer, on November 20

announced development of a new

Nasdaq network. It will create the

world’s fastest trading system and one

of the world’s largest, most sophisticat-

ed custom intranets.

Nasdaq’s systems
have provided 
a 99.9% rate 
of availability 
to the trading 
community.

At 2:05 p.m.on October 28,Nasdaq
became the first U.S.stock market
ever to trade one billion shares 
in one day.At its peak that day,it
handled 1,200 messages and trad-
ed 58,540 shares per second.

Superior market
driving

largest screen-



CMEL
CMETS
CMFH
CMGI
CMIC
CMIN
CMMD
CMNT
CMOS
CMPC
CMPD
CMPOQ
CMPT
CMPX
CMRN
CMRO
CMSB
CMSI
CMSS
CMSV
CMSX
CMTI
CMTL
CMTR
CMVT
CMWL
CMYN
CNAF
CNBA
CNBC
CNBF
CNBI
CNBKA
CNBT
CNCT
CNCX
CNDL
CNDN
CNDO
CNDS
CNEBF
CNET
CNFL
CNGL
CNGR
CNIT
CNKT
CNLG
CNMD
CNMX
CNNG
CNPGF
CNRMF
CNSB
CNSI
CNSK
CNSO
CNSP
CNTBY
CNTL
CNTO
CNTR
CNTY
CNVLZ
CNVXG
CNWK
CNXS
COBH
COBI
COBR
COCN
CODE
CODI
COFI
COGE
COGIF
COGNF
COHO
COHR
COHT
COHU
COKE
COLB
COLL
COLO
COLTY
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Nasdaq’s new network will operate 

at a speed of 256 kb/second, compared

with its current speed of 56 kb/second.

Alfred R. Berkeley, III, President,The

Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., oversees the

fastest growing stock market in the

United States.

Since 1994
Nasdaq has spent
$160 million on 
technology devel-
opment and
enhancements.

The new Technology Center in
Trumbull,Conn.,will enable
Nasdaq to increase its computer
capacity more than fivefold.

technology
the world’s first and
based market



COMM
COMR
COMS
COMT
COMX
CONW
COOK
COOP
COPI

COPY
CORC
CORE
CORR
CORS
CORX
COSC
COSE

COSFF
COSI

COST
COTL

COTTF
COVB
COVN
COVR
COYT
CPAK
CPBI
CPCI
CPCL

CPDN
CPIA

CPLNY
CPLY

CPMG
CPMNY

CPRD
CPRO
CPRT
CPRX
CPSS
CPTA
CPTI
CPTL
CPTS

CPWM
CPWR
CPWY
CRAN
CRBO
CRCL

CRDM
CRDN

CREAF
CRED
CREE
CREN

CRESY
CRFT

CRGO
CRGR

CRHCY
CRLBF

CRLC
CRLG
CRLI

CRLS
CRNR

CRNSF
CROS
CRPB
CRRB
CRRC
CRRR
CRRS
CRSI

CRSS
CRSV
CRSZ

CRTM
CRTN
CRTQ
CRUS
CRVL

CRWF
CRWN
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Home of the
companies in the

In 1984, Cisco computer scientists envi-

sioned a seamless network of computer

networks and invented the router to

make it happen.Today, Cisco routers

direct millions of messages a day

worldwide, having made the Internet

possible.The company went public on

Nasdaq in 1990.
Since its inception in 1975, Microsoft’s

mission has been to create software for

the personal computer that empowers

and enriches people in the workplace,

at school, and at home. Microsoft 

products are available in nearly 

40 languages and sold in more than 

55 countries.The company launched its

Nasdaq IPO in 1986.

Amazon.com, which launched a

Nasdaq IPO in 1997, created the Earth’s

Biggest Bookstore by developing a Web

site with a comprehensive catalogue of

books in- and out-of-print, on-line

ordering capability, and encryption for

customer protection.

Since creating their microprocessor in

1971, Intel has grown as fast as its

chips have performed.These micro-

processors are now used in two-thirds

of the world’s PCs. By the 21st century,

Intel expects to develop a chip that 

will execute two billion instructions per

second. Intel joined Nasdaq in 1981.

In 1997 Nasdaq listed 83% of 
U.S.IPOs — over five times more
than any other U.S.stock market.

Nasdaq’s Innovative Companies Have
Driven Market Growth from 1995 through
1997

The Nasdaq Computer Index Õ164.4%

The Nasdaq Telecommunications Index Õ 97.4%

The Nasdaq Biotechnology Index Õ 87.8%

Nasdaq IPOs
have raised
almost $100 
billion since
1990.In 1997,
Nasdaq IPOs
raised $19.5 
billion.



CRXA
CRYSF
CRZO
CRZY
CSAR
CSBF
CSBI
CSBK
CSCO
CSCQ
CSDS
CSEP
CSGS
CSII
CSIM
CSIS
CSKKY
CSLI
CSLMF
CSLR
CSLX
CSNO
CSNR
CSNT
CSPI
CSPLF
CSRE
CSRV
CSTB
CSTF
CSTL
CSTM
CSTR
CSWC
CSYI
CTAL
CTAS
CTBC
CTBI
CTBP
CTCO
CTCQ
CTEA
CTEC
CTEK
CTEN
CTHL
CTHR
CTIB
CTIC
CTII
CTIM
CTIX
CTLG
CTMC
CTMI
CTND
CTRA
CTRIS
CTRL
CTRX
CTRY
CTSC
CTSI
CTWS
CTXS
CTYA
CTYS
CTZN
CUBA
CUBE
CUCO
CUIS
CUMB
CUNO
CURE
CUSIF
CUTC
CVAL
CVAN
CVAS
CVBK
CVCLF
CVDI
CVGR
CVLY
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most innovative
world

Dell, a Nasdaq IPO of 1988, set out to

do what no PC maker had ever done:

build every computer to order.Today Dell

is the number two supplier of PCs to U.S.

business and growing at more than

twice the industry rate.

Source: IDC Quarterly Market Tracker, Q3 1997.

Future results may vary.

By developing the database, Oracle
made information accessible to every-

one. Today, Oracle is putting the

knowledge of the world on-line, as

databases have become an integral

part of work, school, and government.

The company went public on Nasdaq

in 1986.

Sun Microsystems envisioned a world

without boundaries, united by comput-

ers. They began by building affordable

workstations that opened up the world

of high-powered computing to university

students, then created servers that helped

make corporate networks possible. Now,

Sun is about to achieve its ultimate goal:

a universal computing platform that will

link all things electronic. Sun launched its

Nasdaq IPO in 1986.

3Com created Ethernet, which enabled

computers to communicate easily with

each other. Today, 3Com networking

solutions are connecting more 

computers in more companies than

anyone. And at home, 3Com products

connect more people to the Internet’s

wide world of information.

Amgen, a Nasdaq IPO of 1983,

changed the way cancer and kidney

failure are treated. By creating drugs that

induce the body to produce blood cells,

Amgen enabled chemotherapy and

anemia patients to gain new strength.

Amgen is now the world’s largest inde-

pendent biotechnology company.

Nasdaq has
launched 85% of
all IPOs on U.S.
stock markets
since 1990 —
more than 3,400
new listings.

Nasdaq Is the High Technology Marketplace

96% of Internet companies

92% of software companies

82% of computer manufacturers

81% of communications equipment,electronic 
components,and biotechnology companies

Source: FactSet Research Systems, Inc.



CVSN
CVTI

CVTX
CVTY
CVUS

CWCOF
CWEI
CWII

CWST
CWTR

CXIL
CXIM

CXIPY
CXOT

CXSNF
CYAN
CYBE
CYBG
CYBR
CYBX
CYCH
CYCL
CYDS
CYFN
CYGN
CYLK
CYMI
CYPB
CYPH
CYPR
CYRK
CYTC
CYTL
CYTO
CYTR
DAGR
DAHX
DAIEY

DAIO
DAKT
DALY

DANB
DANKY

DAOU
DARTA
DASTY
DATM
DATX
DAVE
DAVL
DAVX

DAWK
DAYR
DBAS
DBCC
DBCO

DBII
DBLE
DBRN

DBRSY
DCAI
DCBI

DCBK
DCPCF

DCPI
DCRN
DCSR

DCTM
DCXI

DDDDF
DDIM
DDRX
DEBS
DECC
DECK

DECOD
DEEP
DEFI
DELI
DELL
DEMI

DEMP
DENHY

DENT
DEPC
DEPO
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At investor fairs sponsored throughout

the United States, Nasdaq officials 

brief investors on various beneficial

market reforms. NASD’s investor Web

site —  www.investor.nasd.com — pro-

vides additional investment training

and services.

Nasdaq’s imple-
mentation of
the new order
handling rules
has saved
investors an
estimated $500
million during
1997.

In 1997,all 6,200+ Nasdaq listed
securities began trading under the
new order handling rules and were
quoted in sixteenths,narrowing
quoted spreads by 30%—bringing
enhanced price efficiency to Nasdaq.

Nasdaq Workstation II, one of the

world’s most sophisticated screen-

based securities trading platforms, dis-

plays the quotes of the multiple Market

Makers for Nasdaq stocks. On average,

each Nasdaq-100® stock has over 32

Market Makers that compete through

price for investor orders.

Percentage Decrease in Nasdaq
Quoted Spreads January 1997 –
November 1997 By Market Type
and Market Value Ranking 

For investors,
competition any

http://www.investor.nasd.com


DERM
DESI
DETC
DEVC
DEVN
DEZI
DFAX
DFCO
DFIN
DFLX
DGAS
DGIC
DGII
DGIT
DGIX
DGJLF
DGSD
DGSI
DGTC
DHMS
DHOM
DHSM
DHTI
DHULZ
DIAGF
DIALY
DIAN
DIBK
DIDA
DIEG
DIGE
DIGI
DIGL
DIGM
DIIG
DIMD
DIME
DIPL
DISH
DISK
DIST
DITI
DIVE
DIYH
DIYS
DJCO
DKEY
DKTH
DKWD
DLBI
DLGC
DLIA
DLNK
DLOV
DLPH
DLTK
DLTR
DLVRY
DMAR
DMDS
DMED
DMIC
DMIF
DMMC
DMRK
DNAP
DNCC
DNEX
DNFC
DNKY
DNLI
DOBQ
DOCDF
DOCI
DOCSF
DOCU
DOCX
DOMZ
DORL
DOSE
DOTX
DOVE
DPAC
DPMD
DPMI
DPRC
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For investors, market quality means the

best possible price at the greatest possi-

ble liquidity. Nasdaq’s recently proposed

improvement toward this end is an

integrated order delivery and execution

system and a voluntary limit order file,

enabling all investors to compete for

price improvement.

Under market volume pressures
of October 28,Nasdaq main-
tained continuous,accurate price
quotes and market news from
opening to close.

Nasdaq has
never opened
late due to an
order imbal-
ance.

On October 28,comparing the 
20 most actively traded common
stocks of companies listed on
each of the major U.S.markets,
the 15 narrowest spreads were 
in Nasdaq securities.

the fairest price
where



Themosteffective
in the

DPSI
DPTR
DRAI

DRAXF
DRCO

DRFNY
DRKN

DRMD
DROOY

DRRA
DRTE
DRTK
DRXR
DRYR
DSCI

DSCO
DSCP
DSCS

DSGIF
DSGR
DSIT

DSLGF
DSPG
DSPT
DSSI

DSTM
DSTR

DSWWF
DSYS

DTAGY
DTAM

DTII
DTLN

DTMC
DTOP
DTPI

DTRX
DTSI

DTSX
DUCK
DURA
DUSA
DVID
DVLG

DVNTF
DWCH
DWRX
DWSN
DWTI

DWYR
DXCPP

DXPE
DXYN
DYGN

DYHM
DYII

DYMTF
DYMX
DYNT
DYNX

DYOLF
DYPR
DZTK
EACO
EAGL

EAII
EAIN
EASI

EAST
EASY
EATS
EBSI
ECCS
ECGC

ECGOF
ECHO

ECHTA
ECILF
ECIN

ECMT
ECOL
ECOS
ECSC

ECSGY
ECSI
ECTL
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In each of the most recent two
years for which data is available,
NASD Regulation has brought
three timesas many disciplinary
actions against securities firms
and their professionals as all U.S.
stock exchanges combined,
according to SEC statistics.

Over the last
two years NASD
Regulation has
spent $62 mil-
lion on new 
and enhanced
regulatory 
technology sys-
tems and will
spend an 
additional $40
million in 1998.

Barry Goldsmith, NASD Regulation

Executive Vice President, Enforcement,

testified at the New York State Attorney

General’s hearings on NASD Regulation’s

recent enforcement initiatives and suc-

cesses in pursuing microcap stock fraud.

Mary L. Schapiro, President, NASD

Regulation, Inc., leads the largest 

securities-industry self-regulatory 

program in the United States, which 

in 1997 had responsibility for 5,553

securities firms and more than half a

million registered representatives in 

over 60,000 branch offices.

NASD Regulation COO Elisse Walter

and General Counsel Alden Adkins

develop enhancements to NASD’s 

sales practice rules.

Final Disciplinary Actions of
Self-Regulatory Organizations
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EDAC
EDAPY
EDBR
EDCO
EDEL
EDFY
EDGE
EDIN
EDIX
EDMC
EDMD
EDSE
EDUC
EDUSF
EDUT
EDYN
EECN
EEFT
EESI
EFBC
EFBI
EFCW
EFCX
EFIC
EFII
EFTC
EGAS
EGEO
EGFC
EGGS
EGHT
EGLB
EGLE
EGLS
EGPT
EGRP
EIDSY
EILL
EIRE
EISI
ELAMF
ELBTF
ELCC
ELCH
ELCO
ELET
ELGT
ELIX
ELMG
ELMS
ELNK
ELNT
ELRC
ELRNF
ELSE
ELSI
ELTKF
ELTN
ELTX
ELUXY
ELXS
EMAK
EMBR
EMBX
EMCG
EMCI
EMCO
EMER
EMIS
EMITF
EMKR
EMLD
EMLTF
EMLX
EMMS
EMON
EMPI
EMSI
ENBC
ENBX
ENCD
ENCP
ENCRF
ENDG
ENDO
ENER

regulation
securities industry

NASD Regulation market surveillance

conducted 375 formal investigations

and referred 138 insider trading 

cases to the SEC, using advanced 

technology tools to detect irregular

patterns in trading activity.

Mary Alice Brophy, NASD Regulation

Executive Vice President, Member

Regulation, and Daniel Sibears, Vice

President, District Oversight, provide

guidance on compliance to almost 800

securities-firm representatives at NASD

Regulation’s Fall Securities Conference.

The NASD regu-
lates over 11
times as many
securities firms
as any U.S.stock
exchange.

Presently, every broker/dealer
operating in the United States
that conducts a securities busi-
ness with the public is required by
law to be a member of the NASD.
The NASD has regulatory respon-
sibility for all of them.

In 1997,the
NASD filed
1,032 new disci-
plinary actions.
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ENET
ENEX

ENGEF
ENGL

ENGSY
ENMC
ENMD
ENML
ENPT
ENSC
ENSO
ENSR
ENTR
ENTS
ENVG
ENVY
ENZN
EONE
EPEX
EPIE
EPII

EPIQ
EPIX

EPLTF
EPMD
EPTG
EPTO
EQCS

EQMD
EQNX
EQSB
EQTX
EQTY

EQUUS
ERCI

ERGB
ERGO
ERICY

ERIE
ERLY

EROX
ERSI
ERTS

ESATY
ESBK
ESCA
ESCC
ESCI

ESCMF
ESCO
ESCP
ESIO

ESLTF
ESMC
ESOL
ESON

ESPRY
ESQS

ESREF
ESRX
ESSF
ESSI

ESST
ESTI

ESTO
ESVS

ETCIA
ETEC
ETEL
ETFS

ETHCY
ETKA
ETRC
ETTI

EUFA
EUPH
EUSA
EVAN
EVEN
EVER
EVGN

EVMD
EVSI

EVSNF
EVTC

EWEB

The Central Registration Depository

(CRD), operated by NASD Regulation,

contains the registration records and

disciplinary histories of over 550,000

registered securities professionals.

This information will be available to

investors via the Internet in 1998.

NASD Regulation’s Advanced Detection

System (ADS)—using a combination 

of statistical, artificial intelligence,

and visualization techniques to detect

and evaluate patterns in trading

data—processes about 800,000 quote

updates and a similar number of 

trades every day.

NASD Regulation is developing a
systemthatmonitorstheprocessing
of customer securities orders from
the moment the broker is contact-
ed to the moment the transaction is
executed and reported—the Order
Audit Trail System (OATS),which will
begin operating in 1998.

NetWatch, NASD
Regulation’s new
automated
Internet surveil-
lance system,will
search Web sites
for evidence of
securities fraud,
analyzing text
2,000 times
faster and more
accurately than a
person.

The most technolo
advanced reg
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EWND
EWST
EXAC
EXAR
EXBT
EXCA
EXEC
EXGN
EXPD
EXTL
EYES
EZCOF
EZPW
FACO
FACT
FAHC
FAIL
FAIR
FAMCK
FAME
FARC
FARL
FARM
FARO
FASI
FAST
FATN
FATS
FAUL
FAUX
FAVS
FAXX
FBAN
FBAR
FBAYF
FBBC
FBCG
FBCI
FBCV
FBER
FBHC
FBIC
FBKP
FBNC
FBNKO
FBNW
FBRK
FBSI
FBST
FBSWW
FBTR
FCBF
FCBIA
FCBS
FCENA
FCFC
FCLR
FCME
FCNB
FCNCA
FCOB
FCOM
FCPY
FCSE
FCTR
FCWI
FDEF
FDGT
FDIR
FDJA
FDLNB
FDOT
FDPC
FDYMF
FEET
FEIC
FELE
FENT
FERO
FESX
FFBA
FFBC
FFBH
FFBI
FFBZ
FFCH

In a half year of operation, NASD

Regulation’s Advanced Detection

System (ADS) instituted over 200 regu-

latory reviews.

NASD Regulation’s Research and Data

Analysis RepositorySM(RADARSM) system

received an award from the Computerworld

Smithsonian Awards Program,and the sys-

tem’s descriptive materials were made part

of the Smithsonian Institution’s Permanent

Research Collection. RADAR provides mar-

ket analysts immediate access to market

data and other related information,dramat-

ically increasing the speed and flexibility with

which large quantities of data are processed

and analyzed.

NASD Regulation employs the
most sophisticated data mining
techniques to surveil stock 
trading—the Advanced Detection
System (ADS) uses the cutting-edge
Knowledge Discovery in Databases
(KDD) technology.

OATS Order Tracking Process

Customer
1.

Submits Order

3.

Routes Order

5.

Notify MM
of Execution

6. Submits Locked-in Trades
2.

Submits New
Order Report

4.
Submits  
Route Report

Non- Market
Maker

Nasdaq Automated
Execution System

ACT

Order Audit Trail System (OATS)

Market Maker 

gically
ulatory systems
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FFDB
FFDF
FFED
FFES
FFEX
FFFC
FFFD
FFFL
FFGI

FFHH
FFHS
FFIC
FFIN
FFKT
FFKY
FFLC

FFOH
FFPB
FFSL

FFSW
FFSX
FFTI

FFWC
FFWD

FFYF
FGCI

FGHC
FGII

FHRI
FHWN

FIBC
FIBR
FIFS
FIGI
FIIF

FILE
FILM
FIMG
FINE
FINL

FIRM
FISB
FISV
FITB

FKCM
FKFS

FKKYD
FLAG

FLCHF
FLDCP

FLDR
FLEXF

FLFC
FLGS
FLIC
FLIR

FLKY
FLMK

FLMLY
FLOW
FLPB
FLSC

FLSHF
FLWR

FLXI
FLXS

FLYAF
FLYT

FMAR
FMAX
FMBD
FMBI

FMBK
FMBN
FMCO

FMDAY
FMER
FMFC
FMPO
FMRX
FMSB
FMST
FMXI
FNBC
FNBF
FNBN

Best outreach 
to investors

everywhere

The NASD Office of Individual Investor

Services has developed a broad 

range of programs, services, and publi-

cations for investor education and 

protection, as well as an Internet site

(www.investor.nasd.com).

Through NASD’s many Web sites,

investors can access professional quality

market data, as well as comprehensive

broker background information

(www.nasdr.com).

Former U.S. President George Bush

launched an experimental investor 

education project in Elgin, Illinois—a

year-long effort cosponsored by Money

magazine,The Nasdaq Stock Market,

Microsoft Corporation, and Fidelity

Investments—aimed at increasing the

“financial IQ” of a typical American town.

In 1997,the NASD exhibited 
and held workshops at more than
70 investor fairs and conferences
attended by well over 500,000
individual investors.

Nasdaq’sWorldWideWebsitecur-
rentlyaveragessevenmillion hits
perday,morethan that ofany
otherstockmarket.OnOctober27
and October 28,www.nasdaq.com
receivedover14million and 20
millionhits,respectively.

The NASD pro-
duces over 200
publications for
investors each
year to meet
their market and
regulatory infor-
mation needs.

http://www.investor.nasd.com
http://www.nasdr.com
http://www.nasdaq.com


FNBR
FNCE
FNCLY
FNCO
FNGB
FNGC
FNHC
FNIN
FNLY
FOBBA
FOBC
FOCL
FOCS
FONE
FONR
FONX
FOOT
FORDD
FORE
FORL
FORMF
FORR
FORSF
FORTY
FOSL
FOTO
FOUR
FPAM
FPBN
FPFG
FPIC
FPWR
FRAG
FRBK
FRDM
FRED
FREEY
FRES
FRGB
FRME
FRND
FRNT
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Shaping the new
world of investing

The NASD, globalization 
and technology

Nasdaq global network 

facility, Rockville, Maryland.
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Nasdaq companies have changed the world—and Nasdaq itself

is changing the world’s markets. More international companies

have chosen to list their shares or ADRs on The Nasdaq Stock

Market than on all other U.S. markets combined.What Nasdaq

offers the world’s companies is the most technologically

advanced, liquid, well-regulated trading environment as well as

the most comprehensive market information services for both

investors and companies at the lowest cost available anywhere.

Being a global stock market involves more than listing inter-

national companies. It requires having a vision of the securities

market of the future and the capability to implement it.

As the first and largest Internet-like electronic network for

securities trading, Nasdaq transcends borders and facilitates

market participation.

Nasdaq seeks to be the market of choice for issuers and

investors worldwide. For them, Nasdaq is shaping the new

world of investing by using advanced communications 

technology and information processing to deliver optimum

trading efficiency, superior market quality, and global access.

As the first and largest screen-based securities market in the

world, Nasdaq is poised to assume leadership for creating the

next century’s stock market.

Nasdaq’s next generation will integrate the best features of

dealer and order-driven markets within an electronic screen-

based system of global reach.This hybrid market will provide

the depth, liquidity, and immediacy of execution of a dealer

market with the increased opportunities for price improvement

of an order-driven one.

Advanced technology will be deployed for an integrated

order routing system with universal online negotiation capabili-

ty as well as open access to trading for all qualified investors. A

centralized limit order file, along with the reflection of electronic

commercial network orders in public quotes, will provide 

comprehensive price discovery.

There has never been anything quite like it.

Nasdaq International, Ltd., regional 

specialists (clockwise from left) Guang

Xun Xu, China (Shanghai); Patrick

Sutch, Hong Kong and Asia/Pacific

(New Zealand); Achilles Couto, Brazil

(Sao Paolo); and Timothy Haynes,

Europe (London) were active worldwide

in 1997 presenting to international

companies the benefits of access to

American capital markets through a

Nasdaq listing. Over 450 international

companies currently list their shares or

American Depositary Receipts (ADRs)

on The Nasdaq Stock Market.

Taking a State-of-the-Art Stock Market Global—Nasdaq as Worldwide Marketplace
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Facilitating Capital Formation for Global 
Growth Companies

Raising Capital Today. Measured by the number of international

companies listing their shares or American Depositary Receipts

(ADRs), Nasdaq has been the leading global stock market for

years. Listed securities represent 28 countries and come from

every continent of the world.They range from large companies

with market capitalizations of over $100 billion to smaller and

growing enterprises.

For the past several years a significant number of internation-

al companies have chosen Nasdaq as their primary market.

During 1997 alone, 54 international companies issued initial

public offerings (IPOs) on Nasdaq.This is in addition to 443 IPOs

by U.S.-based companies. In all, 83 percent of all new listings by

U.S. securities markets were brought to market on Nasdaq.

To provide an even higher level of convenience and service to

international companies that either list or wish to list on the Nasdaq

market,in 1998 Nasdaq plans to increase its presence in Russia and

China,complementing its London and Sao Paulo operations.

Global Investor Awareness. One important reason companies

headquartered in the U.S. and around the world choose Nasdaq

for their market is because of its high level of service. By listing

on Nasdaq, companies automatically become a part of Nasdaq’s

global investor awareness program.

For instance, Nasdaq’s Internet World Wide Web site,

www.nasdaq.com, builds awareness of listed companies interna-

tionally by providing comprehensive on-line trading information

on their stocks to investors free of charge. In 1998, Nasdaq will

launch a Web site customized for the United Kingdom.

Specialized Web sites in languages other than English are

planned for other parts of the world as well.

Nasdaq’s U.S. television advertising program has also

achieved for the market and its growth companies significant

recognition levels in an ever-expanding universe of investors. A

new program is now being undertaken in Europe.

Nasdaq operates an extensive outreach program for 

institutional investors as well, focusing on portfolio managers,

buy-side traders, and corporate plan sponsors. Executives call on

institutional account officers in addition to providing in-depth

information about market performance and timely announce-

ments about market developments, both operational and 

regulatory. In addition, an Internet site for traders, including the

buy-side, www.nasdaqtrader.com, provides important Nasdaq

market information to this community.

Overseas Investor Relations. Helping companies to develop

their own investor focus, Nasdaq provides its listed companies a

wide range of investor relations support through sponsored

investor seminars for investment professionals held in leading

financial centers throughout Europe and Asia.

Nasdaq’s industry leading Web site,

www.nasdaq.com, provides the invest-

ing public U.S. traded equities and

mutual fund quotes, stock reports and

analyst information, and portfolio

tracking, as well as business news.

John T. Wall, President, Nasdaq

International, Ltd., is responsible for the

global marketing of Nasdaq products

and services, and oversees international

company listings.

http://www.nasdaq.com
http://www.nasdaq.com
http://www.nasdaqtrader.com/dynamic
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In the U.S., Nasdaq Regional Forums focus on timely topics

with investor relations implications for larger companies. For

companies seeking guidance in developing their investor rela-

tions programs, Nasdaq Executive Conferences present the

basics of the investor relations process.

For all Nasdaq companies, there is Nasdaq OnLineSM, the most

advanced investor relations information service available.This

password protected Internet site provides listed companies real-

time trading information on their stock and that of competitors

and other in-depth market performance data as well as analyst

and institutional holdings reports.This information will help

companies manage relationships with analysts, identify institu-

tional investors, and provide board members with concise infor-

mation quickly.

Trading Services for the Global Community

Total Transparency—Central Price Display. In a global trading 

environment with numerous specialized on-line systems, the

potential increases for fragmentation of a stock’s market. By 

centralizing price discovery, Nasdaq provides maximum market

transparency. Specifically, Nasdaq’s public quote reflects orders

for Nasdaq stocks placed on commercial electronic networks

along with quotes from Nasdaq Market Makers. In this way,

investors worldwide can make more informed trading decisions.

In addition, as an electronic, screen-based market, Nasdaq 

is able to provide timely, accurate distribution of trading infor-

mation both to traders who subscribe to its service and to 

private information networks that serve both institutional and

individual investors.

Efficient Order Routing—Integrated Order and Delivery System.
Over a decade ago Nasdaq pioneered automated delivery and

execution of individual investor orders as well as on-line negoti-

ation of trades between Market Makers. Building on this exper-

tise, Nasdaq has proposed introducing an integrated order and

delivery system that will automate delivery and negotiation of

all trades combined.

This integrated system will increase market efficiency and

lower Market Maker risk by presenting orders to them sequen-

tially rather than simultaneously, enabling them to respond to

market forces more effectively. Because Market Maker risk is

reduced, transaction costs for investors will, in turn, be lower.

Optimum Execution Potential—The OptiMark Trading
Technology. As part of its continuing effort to improve the quality

of the market and reduce Market Maker trading costs, Nasdaq 

has entered into an agreement in principle with OptiMark

Technologies to incorporate into Nasdaq’s structure a new and

innovative order matching technology. It is expected to reduce

trading costs by increasing the likelihood that investor orders will

find matches at the desired price and size.

J. Patrick Campbell, Nasdaq Executive

Vice President, Market Services,

announced October 15th the launch 

of www.nasdaqtrader.com, a new

World Wide Web site dedicated to

providing timely market service news 

and information for professional 

stock traders.

http://www.nasdaqtrader.com/dynamic
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With the OptiMark technology, investors would enter orders

through their broker/dealers at various levels of price and size at

which they are willing to trade, thereby increasing the number of

potential matches for any given order. In addition, the new tech-

nology would enable trades to be entered anonymously, lowering

the market impact cost for larger trades. It is expected that the

combination of these features will encourage investors to place

more and larger orders, increasing liquidity throughout the market.

Universal Fairness—Effective Market Surveillance. Market reg-

ulation benefits all participants in The Nasdaq Stock Market.

Regulation helps assure a fair market for investment in securities

and raising capital. In a well-regulated market, investors are 

confident that they have access to the best prices. Regulation

ensures that investors have the most current trading and com-

pany information so that they can make buy and sell decisions

based on the true state of the market.

Nasdaq is the only major stock market in the world to be

regulated by an entirely separate corporate subsidiary, NASD

Regulation, to ensure focus and objectivity.The regulatory

process is facilitated within Nasdaq by on-line, real-time market

surveillance conducted by the MarketWatch unit.

Within MarketWatch, StockWatch surveils issuer activity to

provide an orderly market to protect investors as well as listed

companies. Analysts examine press releases issued by Nasdaq

companies for potential material news and institute temporary

trading halts, if necessary, to provide all investors an opportunity

to gain equal access to the information.Trading activity is 

monitored by the StockWatch Automated TrackingSM system

(SWATSM), a state-of-the-art automated trading surveillance sys-

tem that tracks every trade second-by-second and can identify 

the specific computer terminal from which a trade was made.

When breaks in statistically modeled price and volume parame-

ters are detected, analysts immediately research global data-

bases of public information that could have affected the market

and contact issuers and Market Makers for possible causes.

Also within MarketWatch,TradeWatch scrutinizes trading

activity to ensure market integrity. Analysts monitor and process

alerts generated by automated detection systems such as the

QuoteTrade Comparison, resolve locked and crossed markets

(when ask and bid prices of different Market Makers for a given

stock are the same or the ask price is lower than the bid price),

and examine trade reports by Market Makers for accuracy, con-

Nasdaq Regional Forums provided the

latest perspective on investor relations

issues, approaches, and techniques for

Nasdaq-listed companies.

The proposed new Nasdaq trading

system will feature an integrated order

delivery and execution system and a

centralized, market-wide limit order

file, providing all investors around the

world equal opportunity to obtain the

best possible stock prices.

Proposed Nasdaq System with OptiMark

Customer Order
(Individual and

Institutional
Investors)

NASD Member
Broker/Dealer

B. Private 
Communications System

A.Telephone

C. Proposed Nasdaq System
New order-delivery and 

execution system that will
replace SOES and SelectNet

OptiMark
■

3 dimensional orders 
directly entered by

broker/dealers
■

2 dimensional orders 
taken from Nasdaq Limit

Order Book for each 
crossing session.

Market Makers 
or 

Electronic Communication
Networks (ECNs) 

or
Nasdaq Limit-Order File

Sent to

For 
Handling

Options for obtaining an 
execution for customer

Nasdaq displayed quotes and
orders ranked by price

3 dimensional orders

2 dimensional orders

3 dimensional orders

Direct Connection 
to  Nasdaq

Sponsored by
Broker/Dealer
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formity to current inside spread, and adherence to late trade

reporting rules.

StockWatch and TradeWatch refer to the Market Regulation

unit of NASD Regulation for investigation any detected 

anomalies that they are unable to account for.

Market Structure for the Future

Open Access—Multiple Market Interfaces. Market Makers in

Nasdaq stocks are currently provided the most advanced elec-

tronic securities trading tool available: Nasdaq Workstation IITM

(NWII). NWII offers Market Makers a variety of automated trade

monitoring, execution, and reporting features that can be cus-

tomized to their needs as well as the ability to customize the

array and display of these services on their screen.

Nasdaq believes, however, that a global securities market

should provide market participants of the world multiple ways

to access the market and buy and sell securities. Nasdaq will rev-

olutionize stock trading for institutional investors by providing

them the ability to trade securities directly in the Nasdaq market.

Price Protection—Opportunity for Anonymity. Institutional

investors will qualify for the direct trading service in the Nasdaq

market through a sponsored account with a broker/dealer.The

great advantages of this arrangement for institutions is that 

(1) they will have the ability to manage their block trades them-

selves, and (2) their Nasdaq trading will be anonymous. Such

anonymity provides price protection for block trades executed

in stages.

Uniform Competition—Market-Wide Limit Order File.
Competition has always been a feature of Nasdaq as a dealer

market. Multiple Market Makers compete with each other for

investors’ orders through the stock prices they quote.This 

competition works to provide investors with the best buy or 

sell price and to lower transaction costs.

Nasdaq intends to make competition uniform throughout the

market by enabling investors all over the world to participate

directly in this price competition through a market-wide limit

order file.This central file,containing investors’orders to buy or sell

Nasdaq stocks at a price they specify,will increase investors’oppor-

tunities to receive their preferred price.Limit orders will be execut-

ed automatically either against another matching limit order in the

file, or against a better price advertised by a Market Maker or elec-

tronic trading system.

In addition, the top of the limit order file, that is, the highest

buy and lowest sell orders, will be displayed on all Nasdaq termi-

nals, enhancing Nasdaq’s price discovery worldwide.Moreover, the

entire limit order file will be accessible on an on-line recall basis.

Nasdaq plans to integrate the OptiMark technology directly

with its proposed limit order file to allow all investors access to

new opportunities for price improvement. Investor orders left in

the Nasdaq file will participate in each OptiMark cross, thus

enhancing their opportunities to receive fast executions with

new opportunities for price improvement.

Building a Global Markets Network

Borderless Service. Nasdaq’s screen-based trading technology

has proven to be the preferred choice of countries around the

globe for their securities markets.

Nasdaq wants to make its technological and regulatory

experience available to all countries throughout the world as

stock markets continue to evolve to a screen-based paradigm.

In this way, Nasdaq is encouraging the construction of a 

global network of screen-based securities markets, with vast

potential for international cooperation.

Nasdaq International Market Initiatives (NIMI). Nasdaq has

contributed to the modernization of many emerging markets

through a wholly-owned subsidiary, Nasdaq International

Market Initiatives, Inc. (NIMI). NIMI provides consulting, advisory

services, and technical developmental assistance in the areas of

market operations, market regulation, and automated systems

and technology.

The range of NIMI’s activities includes developing and

improving the infrastructure of securities markets in order to

provide for increased cost-effectiveness and operating efficien-

cy. NIMI has undertaken a comprehensive range of interna-

tional projects, including the development of self-regulatory

organizational structures, technology assistance in the imple-

mentation of automated trading systems, and the creation of

information linkages.

NIMI’s projects include work done in the United Kingdom,

France, Russia, Ukraine, Romania, India, Pakistan, People’s

Republic of China, Australia, and the Caribbean.
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More securities firms headquartered in the United States and

around the world operate in the U.S. capital markets than any-

where else.The vast scope of NASD’s responsibilities place it at

the forefront of regulating the massive securities activity of this

global financial center.

Presently, every broker/dealer operating in the United States

that conducts a securities business with the public is required by

law to be a member of the NASD. In fact, the NASD regulates

over 11 times as many securities firms as any U.S. stock exchange.

To regulate the securities activity of a global financial center,

a regulatory organization must introduce innovative regulatory

programs and apply advanced technology to bring optimum

effectiveness and efficiency to regulatory processes.The organi-

zation must stay focused on investor protection and be respon-

sive to the needs of the investing public.

NASD Regulation, to which the NASD has delegated its func-

tional regulatory responsibilities, is striving to meet this challenge.

According to SEC statistics, in each of the most recent two years for

which data is available,NASD Regulation has brought three times

as many disciplinary actions against securities firms and their pro-

fessionals as all other U.S.self-regulatory organizations combined.

The Most Active Regulatory Program

Registration and Testing. In the United States, securities profes-

sionals must register with the NASD and pass examinations qual-

ifying them to engage in securities business activities.Testing

ensures that securities professionals are sufficiently knowledge-

able about the industry and its regulation to perform responsibly.

NASD Regulation is also the primary agency for administer-

ing examinations of the U.S. securities industry. NASD Regulation

administers over 20 types of examinations throughout the

country—over 280,000 examinations in all.

Education. The NASD took the lead, in partnership with five

other self-regulatory organizations and representatives from 13

securities firms, in developing a mandatory Continuing

Education program for securities professionals operating in the

United States. Designed to enhance the professionalism of bro-

kers, the Regulatory Element of the program is administered by

NASD Regulation, delivering over 100,000 computerized ses-

sions in the program’s second year of operation.

NIMI experts advised RASDAQ officials

in Bucharest, Romania throughout

1997 on implementation and 

operation of a national electronic 

market system.

The NASD has taken a lead role in the

development and operation of an

industry-wide Continuing Education

Program for securities professionals in

the United States. NASD Regulation

delivered over 100,000 computerized

Regulatory Element sessions in 1997.

Providing Investor Protection—NASD Regulation and the Global Regulatory Community
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NASD Academy. In 1998, the NASD will establish a

first-of-its-kind securities regulation college at New York

University.The NASD Academy will be a self-funded institution

with a highly experienced faculty, at first serving industry 

regulators, compliance officers and legal counsel of securities

firms. Investors will benefit from increased professionalism and

more uniform compliance knowledge.

Study will begin with an overview of U.S. securities law and

regulations and their practical application as well as the U.S. reg-

ulatory system, including the roles played by federal and state

government and the self-regulatory organizations. Specific ses-

sions will cover ethics, professional conduct, and compliance

and regulatory requirements and systems designed to achieve

investor protection.

On-Site Examinations. To ensure compliance with U.S. securi-

ties laws and regulations, NASD Regulation sends trained exam-

iners to conduct on-site inspections of each of its over 5,500

member firms.They examine for financial and operational con-

dition as well as sales practices and fair dealing with customers.

NASD Regulation examiners cover the broad range of securi-

ties not traded on exchanges, including stocks of The Nasdaq

Stock Market, over-the-counter stocks, corporate debt, municipal

securities, government securities, mutual funds, direct participa-

tion programs, and variable annuities.

NASD Regulation examiners are assisted by an advanced com-

puterized information system—CornerStone® Examiner Training

Program and Performance Support System—which is carried into

the field in a laptop computer.This system alerts examiners to the

latest rule changes and provides an automated reference to the

entire range of U.S. securities laws and regulations.

To increase regulatory effectiveness and efficiency, NASD

Regulation is introducing risk-based regulation in 1998, focusing

efforts on securities firms presenting the greatest risk to investors.

Review of Advertising and Sales Literature. The NASD, through

NASD Regulation, conducts industry-wide reviews of advertising

and sales literature produced by securities firms for fairness,

accuracy, and completeness to ensure compliance with NASD

and federal regulations.These materials include advertisements

in newspapers and magazines or the broadcast media as well as

brochures, form letters and research reports.

At the forefront of industry developments in information

technology, NASD Regulation sets standards for securities firms’

NASD Regulation conducts comprehen-

sive reviews of securities-industry 

advertising and sales literature in the

United States to ensure fairness, accura-

cy, and completeness. Over 61,000 items

were reviewed in 1997 from filings,

spot checks, and investigations.

Through on-site examinations at mem-

ber firms operating in the United States,

NASD Regulation reviews industry

sales-practice and other regulatory

compliance. Over 13,700 routine and

cause  examinations were conducted 

in 1997.
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communications with the public through messages or sites on

such electronic media as the Internet, commercial on-line infor-

mation services, and electronic bulletin boards, all of which are

considered a form of advertising. Group electronic mail is regu-

lated as sales literature, and individual e-mail as correspondence.

Chat rooms on an electronic medium are considered public

forums and regulated as oral communication.

Review of Underwriting Arrangements. Through NASD

Regulation, the NASD is the only self-regulatory organization that

reviews the underwriting arrangements of securities offerings to

ensure that the amount of compensation to be paid to firms

underwriting the issue is fair and within NASD guidelines. In addi-

tion, NASD Regulation reviews the terms of the underwriting to

make sure that they are fair and equitable.

Enforcement. The effectiveness of the NASD’s regulatory pro-

gram can be measured by the commitment of its staff to maintain

a securities industry in the United States that is conducted ethically

and lawfully. NASD Regulation is determined to pursue violations

of securities laws and NASD rules involving business conduct or

market activity by securities professionals or their firms.

NASD Regulation staff carefully evaluates evidence arising

from all possible sources—such as the NASD’s extensive on-site

examination program, automated market surveillance, customer

complaints, or member firm notification—and determines

whether to begin formal disciplinary proceedings. On average,

NASD Regulation brings over 1,000 formal disciplinary actions

each year. The dollar amount of fines collected in 1997 by

NASD Regulation increased 30 percent over the previous year.

The NASD also makes every attempt to see that, in appropri-

ate cases, investors are compensated for their losses to the full

extent that the law provides.

Dispute Resolution Forums. Most securities business in the

United States is conducted without controversy.When mone-

tary and business disputes occasionally arise, U.S. self-regulatory

organizations provide forums for their resolution. Committed to

a stable marketplace that provides ample opportunity to settle

differences, NASD Regulation operates the largest dispute reso-

lution forum in the U.S. securities industry, processing more than

87 percent of all arbitration claims received by all U.S. self-regula-

tory organizations. In addition, NASD Regulation is the only regu-

latory organization that has adopted formalized mediation rules

and procedures.

Arbitration provides a prompt, inexpensive alternative to liti-

gation in the U.S. courts. Arbitration is final and binding, subject

to review by a court only on a very limited basis. NASD

Regulation developed the mediation alternative to arbitration

because mediation is an informal, voluntary, nonbinding process

that is even faster and less expensive.

The review of underwriting arrange-

ments for U.S. securities offerings by

NASD Regulation ensures that both the

terms and compensation are fair and

within NASD guidelines.

NASD Regulation is the industry’s

leader in arbitration and mediation 

services for the resolution of disputes,

providing a forum for over 87 percent

of arbitration claims brought in the 

U.S. securities industry in 1997.



Market Regulation analysts routinely 

use RADAR and SWAT in insider trading

investigations.

JAII
JAKK

JAMS
JANNF
JAPNY

JASN
JAVCD

JBAK
JBHT
JBIL

JBOH
JBSS
JCBS
JCOR

JCTCF
JDAS
JDEC
JEAN
JEFF
JEVC

JEWLF
JGIN
JHPC
JJSC
JJSF

JKHY
JLHC
JLMI
JLNY

JMAR
JMCG
JMED
JOAC
JOIN
JOSB
JPEI

JPMX
JRBK
JRJR
JSBA
JSTN
JTFX

JTWO
JUDG
JUNI

JUNO
JUST
JVLN

JWAIA
JXSB
JXVL

KAMNA
KARE
KARR
KATC
KAYE

KBALB
KCLI

KDUS
KELL

KELYA
KENT
KEQU
KERA
KESI

KEST
KEYB
KEYS
KFBI
KICK
KIDD
KIDE
KIDQ
KIDS
KILN
KINN
KINT
KITS

KKRO
KLAC
KLIC

KLLM
KLOC

KLOFY
KMAG
KMET

32

World-Class Market Regulation

Total Surveillance Sweep. Focusing on every aspect of securi-

ties trading activity, the Market Regulation unit preserves

the competitiveness, fairness, liquidity, and integrity of The

Nasdaq Stock Market as well as the other markets regulated

by NASD Regulation. Relying on state-of-the-art technology,

including sophisticated data mining programs, Market

Regulation detects and helps prosecute violations of NASD

and SEC rules and regulations that protect investors.

Quality of Markets. Market Regulation preserves market quali-

ty to help ensure a level playing field for investors and market

participants alike. Five teams are devoted to this important area.

■ Trading Practices conducts both real-time and off-line surveil-

lance of member firm compliance with trade reporting and

market making rules. State-of-the-art surveillance systems, such

as the Firm Quote Compliance System, Secondary Offering

System, and Quote/Trade Comparison System, generate alerts,

called “breaks,”and/or retrieve filtered market information for the

staff to analyze efficiently and effectively.

■ Trading Analysis utilizes the award-winning Research and

Data Analysis Repository (RADAR) and also revolutionary data

mining technology through its Advanced Detection System

(ADS) to make sure that members are reporting their trades

promptly and accurately, and to detect patterns of unusual trad-

ing activity surrounding late trade reporting.

■ Order Handling monitors firms’ quote updates to ensure

compliance with the SEC’s new Order Handling Rules, which

went into effect January 1997 and require Market Makers to 

display their most competitive quote publicly, including those

on proprietary electronic trading systems, as well as including

customer limit orders in their quotes.

■ Trading Systems reviews long-term trading patterns and

ensures compliance with rules governing Nasdaq’s Small Order

Execution System (SOES) and Fixed Income Pricing SystemSM

(FIPSSM). Activity occurring by or through proprietary trading sys-

tems—now that their quotations are integrated into the calcu-

lation of the best bid or offer on Nasdaq—is also reviewed for

compliance with trading rules.

■ Options/Marking-the-Close ensures that members comply

with SEC and NASD rules governing options, including position

limits and unusual equity activity that may be related to options.

Surveillance and Compliance. Market Regulation also con-

ducts investigations into aberrant market activity that may

involve fraud, such as insider trading or market manipulation.

Three teams cover this area.

■ Insider Trading uses RADAR and SWAT to conduct reviews

and investigations of trading activity surrounding material news

events to detect potential insider trading. Such activity is contin-

ually referred to the SEC for further action.

The NetWatch Web search engine, to be

introduced in 1998, will offer sophisti-

cated Internet surveillance capabilities.

The NetWatch Search Engine
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■ Fraud also uses RADAR and SWAT to conduct investigations

of long-term price swings in Nasdaq and over-the-counter

equity securities for fraud or manipulation. Such cases are

referred to NASD Regulation’s Enforcement unit for prosecu-

tion. In addition, a new Internet surveillance system, NetWatch,

with an advanced Web search engine, is used to monitor the

Internet to detect and prevent sales fraud.

■ OTC Compliance helps ensure that firms applying to quote

certain securities on the OTC Bulletin Board® have met the SEC’s

reporting obligations.

Market Making and Market Integrity. Market Regulation oper-

ates extensive examination and investigation programs to pre-

serve market integrity.Three teams surveil this area.

■ Trading and Market Making Surveillance conducts on-site

examinations of members’ compliance with various trade

reporting rules. Firms subject to these annual examinations

account for 90 percent of the market activity in the equity mar-

kets under NASD Regulation’s jurisdiction.

■ Market Integrity, relying upon the ADS data mining system,

ensures that members are not engaging in anti-competitive

behavior, including potential harassment, market participant col-

laboration (on trades, trade reporting or quoting) and pricing or

sizing conventions, among other issues.

■ Customer Complaints provides prompt response to investor

and broker/dealer complaints. Rule violations receive disciplinary

action where warranted, and restitution to affected customers is

sought when appropriate.

Advanced Regulatory Technology—
Increasing Range and Responsiveness

Automated Protection of Customer Orders—Order Audit Trail
System. NASD Regulation’s Order Audit Trail System (OATS) will

track customers’ securities orders through the complete life

cycle of the transaction handled by a securities firm. Ensuring

that customer orders are executed at the best possible price

and terms, OATS will begin operating in 1998.

OATS makes possible the most complete monitoring of

securities firms’ trading practices in the industry, receiving and

validating member firm order information.With speed and pre-

cision, OATS captures the timing of every event in the life cycle

of a trading order to the second for automated monitoring and

The NASD’s family of World Wide 

Web sites provides fast and easy global

access to market and regulatory 

information.
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can recreate the entire transaction for regulatory analysis.

Stock Trading Surveilled Through Data Mining—Advanced
Detection System. Beginning full-scale operation in July 1997,NASD

Regulation’s Advanced Detection System (ADS) employs the most

sophisticated data mining techniques to surveil stock trading—the

cutting-edge Knowledge Discovery in Databases (KDD).KDD uses

a combination of statistical,artificial intelligence,and visualization

techniques to detect and evaluate patterns in trading data.

NASD Regulation uses ADS to identify potential violations

regarding late trade reporting, pricing/size conventions, and

market participant coordination. Providing an integrated view of

market activity for all securities and trading firms, ADS processes

about 800,000 quote updates and a similar number of trades

every day the market is open. In a half year of operation, ADS

has been responsible for instituting over 200 regulatory reviews.

Detecting Cyberspace Fraud—NetWatch Internet Surveillance
System. NASD Regulation will become the first regulatory orga-

nization to systematically monitor the Internet for securities

fraud when it implements NetWatch, its new automated

Internet Surveillance System, in 1998. Helping to maintain

investor confidence in the markets, NetWatch will both detect

possible instances of fraud as well as act as a deterrent, and may

actually help to limit the potential effects of violative behavior.

Using an intelligent information extraction tool with

advanced natural-language-processing search capabilities,

NetWatch will consistently and thoroughly scan the Internet

and relate its findings to actual market activity and newswire

stories. NetWatch is capable of processing text 2,000 times faster

than the average adult, with a greater degree of accuracy.

Global Access to Broker Information—Public Disclosure Program
on the Internet. Committed to providing investors as much infor-

mation as possible for their ultimate protection, wherever they

may be, NASD Regulation began in 1996 to implement the

requesting and delivery of the information provided by its Public

Disclosure Program over the Internet (PDP/I). By May 1997,

investors around the world were able not only to request on-line,

but also to obtain through e-mail, such background on brokers

as employment, criminal or civil-judgment, disciplinary and arbi-

tration information. In 1998, NASD Regulation will provide

investors the capability to view on-line the complete range of

public disclosure information through the “About Your Broker”

button on its Internet site, www.nasdr.com.

Partnering the Global Regulatory Effort

Cooperation Among Securities Regulators Worldwide. As a major

self-regulator in the world’s financial system, the NASD recognizes

that international cooperation among all securities regulators is a

commitment we owe to all market participants.Toward this end,

the NASD for years has been an active member in the Federation

Internationale des Bourses de Valeurs (FIBV), which now has 50

self-regulatory and stock market members covering 97 percent of

world stock market capitalization.

FIBV’s mission is, among other things, to develop and maintain

working relationships with self-regulators to advance the benefits

of self-regulation around the world and establish harmonized

standards for cross-border capital raising, trading, and settlement.

The NASD has been particularly active in the International

Regulation Subcommittee that develops regulatory best practices

and recently formulated rules for international cooperation

regarding trading halts.The NASD is concurrently working on the

committee that is benchmarking trading mechanisms.

The NASD is also an affiliate member, as a self-regulatory orga-

nization, of the International Organization of Securities

Commissions (IOSCO), which has a total of 134 member agencies.

The mission of IOSCO is to cooperate to promote high standards

of regulation, to exchange information to promote the develop-

ment of domestic markets, to establish standards and effective

surveillance of international securities transactions, and to provide

mutual assistance for enforcement.

All affiliate members belong to IOSCO’s SRO Consultative

Committee, which maintains a dialogue with the securities 

commission members and makes a constructive contribution to

the work of the organization.The NASD, representing the

Consultative Committee, participates in the Working Party respon-

sible for disclosure and accounting standards.

Coordinating Market Surveillance Operations. International

coordination of the surveillance of securities markets is critical in

today’s global financial market, where cross-border trading and

inevitably interdependent markets can give rise to cross-market

violations. NASD Regulation has helped to forge such coordina-

tion as a founding member of the Intermarket Surveillance

Group (ISG). Founded in 1983, ISG consists today of 23 regulato-

ry organizations around the world.

Members of ISG routinely share market information on request

for regulatory purposes. In addition, the U.S.members routinely

share trading information electronically.Moreover, ISG has allocated

responsibility for surveillance to appropriate participants for certain

types of violations.As an active ISG participant,NASD Regulation

over the past few years has coordinated dozens of intermarket

investigations with other ISG self-regulatory organizations.

In furthering international cooperation, NASD Regulation has

also welcomed some 75 regulators and market representatives

from around the world to examine its surveillance systems and

share surveillance expertise. In addition, NASD Regulation mar-

ket surveillance professionals have assisted the Cairo Stock

Exchange regarding insider trading practices and the exchanges

in Bombay, Calcutta, and New Delhi.

http://www.nasdr.com
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Nasdaq Initial Public Offerings for 1997 Since it began operations in 1971,The Nasdaq Stock Market has functioned as an

engine of growth for the world’s economy by providing entrepreneurial companies an opportunity to expand substantially their access to

capital.This is still true today. More companies go public or list their shares on Nasdaq than on any other U.S. market. A list of companies making

their initial public offerings on Nasdaq during 1997 follows.

Listings from USA unless otherwise noted.

Name TSCE Country

@Entertainment, Inc. ATEN

3Dfx Interactive, Inc. TDFX

800-JR Cigar, Inc. JRJR

8x8, Inc. EGHT

A.C. Moore Arts & Crafts, Inc. ACMR

A.C.S. Electronics Limited ACSEF Israel

Aastrom Biosciences, Inc. ASTM

AccelGraphics, Inc. ACCL

Acorn Products, Inc. ACRN

Advance Financial Bancorp AFBC

Advanced Communication System, Inc. ACSC

Advanced Electronic Support Products, Inc. AESP

Advantage Learning Systems, Inc. ALSI

Aehr Test Systems AEHR

AHL Services, Inc. AHLS

Allstar Systems, Inc. ALLS

Amazon.com, Inc. AMZN

Ambassador Bank of the Commonwealth ABPA

American Capital Strategies, Ltd. ACAS

American Champion Entertainment, Inc. ACEI

American Physician Partners, Inc. APPM

Ameripath, Inc. PATH

AmeriTrade Holding Corporation AMTD

AmerUs Life Holdings, Inc. AMRS

Amplidyne, Inc. AMPD

Annapolis National Bancorp, Inc. ANNB

Antivirals, Inc. AVII

Apex PC Solutions, Inc. APEX

Apollo BioPharmaceutics ABPI

Apollo International of Delaware AIOD

Applied Films Corporation AFCO

Applied Micro Circuits Corporation AMCC

Aramex International Limited ARMXF Bermuda

ARIS Corporation ARSC

Ascent Pediatrics, Inc. ASCT

ASD Group, Inc. ASDG

ASI Solutions, Incorporated ASIS

Asia Electronics Holding Co. AEHCF Canada

At Home Corporation ATHM

ATL Products, Inc. ATLPA

Augment Systems, Inc. AUGS

Aurora Biosciences Corporation ABSC

Authentic Specialty Foods, Inc. ASFD

Name TSCE Country

AutoCyte, Inc. ACYT

Aviation Distributors, Inc. ADIN

Aviation Group, Inc. AVGP

AVTEAM, Inc. AVTM

Axiom, Inc. AXIM

Azurel Ltd. AZUR

Bank of the Ozarks OZRK

Barbeques Galore Limited BBQZY Australia

Bay Bancshares, Inc. BAYB

BEA Systems, Inc. BEAS

Bell Canada International, Inc. BCICF Canada

Beringer Wine Estates Holdings, Inc. BERW

Best Software, Inc. BEST

Big Dog Holding, Inc. BDOG

Bioanalytical Systems, Inc. BASI

Bionx Implants, Inc. BINX

Biora AB BIORY Sweden

BioReliance Corporation BREL

Biosite Diagnostic, Inc. BSTE

Birman Managed Care, Inc. BMAN

Boron, LePore & Associates, Inc. BLPG

Brass Eagle, Inc. XTRM

BridgeStreet Accommodations, Inc. BEDS

Brigham Exploration Company BEXP

Bright Horizons, Inc. BRHZ

Brookdale Living Communities, Inc. BLCI

Broughton Foods Company MILK

Brunswick Technologies, Inc. BTIC

C.H. Robinson Worldwide, Inc. CHRW

C3, Inc. CTHR

Cal Dive International, Inc. CDIS

Capital Beverage Corporation CBEV

Captec Net Lease Realty, Inc. CRRR

Cardima, Inc. CRDM

Carey International, Inc. CARY

Caring Products International, Inc. BDRY

Carrizo Oil & Gas, Inc. CRZO

Casella Waste Systems, Inc. CWST

Castle Dental Centers, Inc. CASL

CD Warehouse, Inc. CDWI

Celerity Systems, Inc. CLRT

Cell Therapeutics, Inc. CTIC

Centennial HealthCare Corp. CTEN
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MSEX
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MSGI
MSIX
MSON
MSPG
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MSTG
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Joseph Ciechanover
Israel

Name TSCE Country

Century Bancshares, Inc. CTRY

Cerus Corporation CERS

CFI Mortgage Inc. CFIM

ChoiceTel Communications, Inc. PHON

ChromaVision Medical Systems, Inc. CVSN

Ciena Corporation CIEN

Citizens National Bank of Texas CNBT

CMP Media Inc. CMPX

Coast Dental Services, Inc. CDEN

Cognicase Inc. COGIF Canada

Coinstar, Inc. CSTR

Coldwater Creek, Inc. CWTR

Colonial Downs Holdings, Inc. CDWN

Commodore Separation Technologies, Inc. CXOT

Commonwealth Biotechnologies, Inc. CBTE

Compass Plastics & Technologies, Inc. CPTI

Complete Business Solutions, Inc. CBSL

Complete Wellness Centers, Inc. CMWL

Compu-Dawn, Inc. CODI

Computer Motion, Inc. RBOT

Concentric Network Corporation CNCX

Concord Communications, Inc. CCRD

Conning Corporation CNNG

Consolidation Capital Corporation BUYR

Continental Natural Gas, Inc. CNGL

Corixa Corporation CRXA

CorporateFamily Solutions, Inc. CFAM

Corsair Communications, Inc. CAIR

Coulter Pharmaceutical, Inc. CLTR

Coyote Sports, Inc. COYT

Creative Host Services, Inc. CHST

Cresud S.A.C.I.F. y A. CRESY Argentina

CrossKeys Systems Corporation CKEYF Canada

CrossZ Software Corporation CRSZ

Crystal Systems Solutions, Ltd. CRYSF Israel

CTB International Corp. CTBC

CTI Industries Corporation CTIB

D.G. Jewellery of Canada Ltd. DGJLF Canada

DAOU Systems, Inc. DAOU

DeCrane Aircraft Holdings, Inc. DAHX

Deltek Systems, Inc. DLTK

Denali Incorporated DNLI

Denison International plc DENHY England

Name TSCE Country

Dental Care Alliance, Inc. DENT

Dental/Medical Diagnostic Systems, Inc. DMDS

DepoMed, Inc. DPMD

Didax Inc. AMEN

Digital Lightwave, Inc. DIGL

Discas, Inc. DSCS

DOCdata N.V. DOCDF Netherlands

DSI Toys, Inc. DSIT

DTM Corporation DTMC

Dunn Computer Corporation DNCC

e-Net, Inc. ETEL

Eagle Geophysical, Inc. EGEO

Earthlink Network, Inc. ELNK

Eco Soil Systems, Inc. ESSI

EDAP TMS S.A. EDAPY France

Edge Petroleum Corporation EPEX

EduTrek International, Inc. EDUT

Electric Lightwave, Inc. ELIX

Electronic Processing, Inc. EPIQ

Eltek Ltd. ELTKF Israel

EMCORE Corporation EMKR

Empire Federal Bancorp, Inc. EFBC

Endocardial Solutions, Inc. ECSI

Energis Plc ENGSY England

Energy Search, Incorporated EGAS

Engel General Developers Ltd. ENGEF Israel

EPIX Medical, Inc. EPIX

ErgoBilt, Inc. ERGB

Esat Telecom Group plc ESATY Ireland

ESG Re Limited ESREF Bermuda

Esprit Telecom Group plc ESPRY England

Euro Tech Holdings Company, Limited CLWTF Hong Kong

Euronet Services, Inc. EEFT

Excel Switching Corporation XLSW

Excelsior-Henderson 

Motorcycle Manufacturing Co. BIGX

Execustay Corporation EXEC

FARO Technologies, Inc. FARO

Faroudja, Inc. FDJA

FieldWorks, Inc. FWRX

fine.com Corporation FDOT

First Aviation Services, Inc. FAVS

First Carnegie Deposit SKBO

David Brooke
Great Britain

Ricardo Hector Arriazu
Argentina

The Nasdaq International

Markets Advisory Board 

➜
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NAUT
NAVG
NAVR
NBAK
NBIX

NBOC
NBSC
NBSI

NBTB
NBTY
NCBC
NCBE
NCBH
NCBM

NCDI
NCEB
NCEN
NCES

NCLIP
NCOG

NCOM
NCSS
NCTI

NDSN
NECB

NECSY
NEDI

NEGX
NEIB
NEIC
NEIP

NEMA
NEOG

NEOM
NEON
NEOP
NEOT

NERAY
NERIF
NERX
NESC
NETA
NETC
NETE
NETL

NETM
NETS
NETT

NETVA
NEWC
NEWH
NEWI

NEWP
NEWRZ

NEXR
NEXT
NFLD
NFLI

NGPSF
NHAN

NHCI
NHHC

NHMCF
NHTB
NHTC
NIAG

NICEY
NICH

NICKF
NINE

NIPNY
NIRTS
NJST
NKID
NKOT
NLCS

NMBS
NMBT

NMCOF
NMED
NMFS
NMGC
NMPC
NMPS
NMRX
NMSB

Name TSCE Country

HealthDesk Corporation HDSK

Healthworld Corporation HWLD

Hemlock Federal Financial Corporation HMLK

Heska Corporation HSKA

Heuristic Development Group, Inc. IFIT

High Country Bancorp, Inc. HCBC

Holt’s Cigar Holdings, Inc. HOLT

HomeCom Communications, Inc. HCOM

Hotel Discovery, Inc. HOTD

Hungarian Broadcasting Corporation HBCO

Hybrid Networks, Inc. HYBR

Hyseq, Inc. HYSQ

I.C. Isaacs & Company, Inc. ISAC

IAT Multimedia, Inc. IATA

ICOS Vision Systems Corporation N.V. IVISF Belgium

IL Fornaio (America) Corporation ILFO

ILEX Oncology, Inc. ILXO

ILOG S.A. ILOGY France

ImageMAX, Inc. IMAG

Imperial Credit Commercial 

Mortgage Investment Corp. ICMI

Independence Brewing Company IBCO

Information Advantage, Inc. IACO

Information Management Associates, Inc. IMAA

Innova Corporation INVA

Innovative Valve Technologies, Inc. IVTC

INSpire Insurance Solutions, Inc. NSPR

Intercorp Excelle, Inc. RENEF Canada

International Aircraft Investors IAIS

International CompuTex, Inc. ICIQ

International Isotopes, Inc. INIS

International Manufacturing Services, Inc. IMSX

International Sports Wagering, Inc. ISWI

International Total Services, Inc. ITSW

Intervest Bancshares Corp. IBCA

InterVu, Inc. ITVU

inTest Corporation INTT

IONA Technologies PLC IONAY Ireland

Ionica Group plc IONCY England

Iridium World Communications Ltd. IRIDF Bermuda

ITC DeltaCom, Inc. ITCD

IWL Communications, Inc. IWLC

J.D. Edwards & Company JDEC

Name TSCE Country

First International Bancorp, Inc. FNCE

First Robinson Financial Corporation FRFC

First SecurityFed Financial, Inc. FSFF

First Sierra Financial, Inc. FSFH

FirstBank Corp. FBNW

FirstSpartan Financial Corp. FSPT

Flagstar Bancorp, Inc. FLGS

FlexiInternational Software, Inc. FLXI

Focal, Inc. FOCL

Four Media Company FOUR

Franchise Mortgage Acceptance Company FMAX

Freepages Group plc FREEY England

Friede Goldman International, Inc. FGII

Friendly Ice Cream Corporation FRND

G. Willi-Food International, Ltd. WILGF Israel

Galileo Technology, Ltd. GALTF Israel

GameTech International, Inc. GMTC

Gene Logic, Inc. GLGC

General Bearing Corporation GNRL

General Credit Corporation LOAN

Genesis Development and 

Construction, Ltd. GDCOF Israel

Genesys Telecommunications 

Laboratories, Inc. GCTI

Genisys Reservation Systems, Inc. GENS

Gentle Dental Service Corporation GNTL

Gilat Communications Ltd. GICOF Israel

Global Med Technologies, Inc. GLOB

Globecomm Systems Inc. GCOM

go2net, Inc. GNET

Great Pee Dee Bancorp, Inc. PEDE

Great Plains Software, Inc. GPSI

Group Long Distance, Inc. GLDI

GSB Financial Corporation GOSB

Guitar Center, Inc. GTRC

Gulf Island Fabrication, Inc. GIFI

H.T.E., Inc. HTEI

Hagler Bailly Inc. HBIX

Hall, Kinion & Associates, Inc. HAKI

Hamilton Bancorp, Inc. HABK

Hawaiian Natural Water Company, Inc. HNWC

Healthcare Recoveries, Inc. HCRI

HealthCore Medical Solutions, Inc. HMSI

J.J. van Duijn
The Netherlands

Virgil Cumming
United States

Peter Stormonth Darling
Great Britain

Laurence G. Cox
Australia
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NMSCA
NMSS
NMTI
NMTX
NNBR
NOBE
NOBH
NOBLF
NOEL
NOIZ
NOLD
NORPF
NORT
NOVI
NOVL
NOVN
NOVT
NPBC
NPCI
NPET
NPIX
NPPI
NPRMW
NPRO
NPSI
NPSP
NPTH
NRCI
NRES
NRGG
NRGN
NRID
NRIM
NRLD
NRMI
NRRD
NRTI
NRTY
NRVH
NSAI
NSANY
NSATF
NSBC
NSCC
NSCF
NSCI
NSCP
NSDB
NSEC
NSFC
NSIT
NSIX
NSLB
NSOL
NSPK
NSPR
NSSB
NSSC
NSSY
NSTA
NSTK
NSYS
NTAIF
NTAP
NTBK
NTBM
NTEC
NTEG
NTFY
NTII
NTKI
NTLI
NTMG
NTNC
NTPA
NTPL
NTRL
NTRS
NTRX
NTSC
NTST
NTWK
NUCO
NUHC
NUMD
NURS

Name TSCE Country

Jenna Lane, Inc. JLNY

JetFax, Inc. JTFX

Jevic Transportation, Inc. JEVC

JLM Industries, Inc. JLMI

Karts International, Inc. KINT

Kaynar Technologies Inc. KTIC

Kendle International Inc. KNDL

Knightsbridge Tankers Ltd. VLCCF Bermuda

Kofax Image Products, Inc. KOFX

Kos Pharmaceuticals, Inc. KOSP

Lamalie Associates, Inc. LAIX

Landmark Systems Corporation LDMK

Laser Power Corporation LPWR

Let’s Talk Cellular & Wireless, Inc. LTCW

LeukoSite, Inc. LKST

Lexington Healthcare Group, Inc. LEXI

LHS Group, Inc. LHSG

Life Financial Corporation LFCO

LINC Capital, Inc. LNCC

Logility, Inc. LGTY

Logitech International S.A. LOGIY Switzerland

Long Beach Financial Corp. LBFC

Macrovision Corporation MVSN

Made2Manage Systems, Inc. MTMS

Marine Management Systems, Inc. MMSY

Market Financial Corporation MRKF

MAS Technology Limited MASSY New Zealand

Meade Instruments Corp. MEAD

MediaLink Worldwide, Inc. MDLK

Medical Manager Corporation MMGR

Medical Science Systems, Inc. MSSI

Medirisk, Inc. MDMD

Megabios Corp. MBIO

Melita International Corporation MELI

MER Telemanagement Solutions, Ltd. MTSLF Israel

Mercury Waste Solutions, Inc. MWSI

Metro Information Services, Inc. MISI

Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc. MFNX

MetroNet Communications Corp. METNF Canada

Metropolitan Health Networks, Inc. MDPA

Micro Therapeutics, Inc. MTIX

Microcell Telecommunications, Inc. MICTF Canada

Midway Airlines Corporation MDWY

Name TSCE Country

MMC Networks, Inc. MMCN

Monarch Dental Corporation MDDS

Montgomery Financial Corporation MONT

Motor Cargo Industries, Inc. CRGO

MPW Industrial Services Group, Inc. MPWG

MultiMedia Access Corporation MMAC

N2K, Inc. NTKI

NACT Telecommunications, Inc. NACT

Nanophase Technologies Corporation NANX

National Auto Finance Company, Inc. NAFI

National Research Corporation NRCI

NAVIDEC, Inc. NVDC

NEI WebWorld, Inc. NEIP

NeoMagic Corporation NMGC

Net.B@nk, Inc. NTBK

NetSpeak Corporation NSPK

Network Solutions, Inc. NSOL

Neutral Posture Ergonomics, Inc. NTRL

NevStar Gaming Corporation NVST

New Century Financial Corp. NCEN

New Era Networks, Inc. NEON

NEWCOM, Inc. NWCM

NewSouth Bancorp, Inc. NSBC

Nexar Technologies, Inc. NEXR

NEXTLINK Communications, Inc. NXLK

NHancement Technologies, Inc. NHAN

Notify Corporation NTFY

NovaCare Employee Services, Inc. NCES

Novamerican Steel, Inc. TONSF Canada

NovAtel, Inc. NGPSF Canada

Novel Denim Holdings Limited NVLDF Hong Kong

OAO Technology Solutions, Inc. OAOT

Objective Communications, Inc. OCOM

Ocular Sciences, Inc. OCLR

Ocwen Asset Investment Corp. OAIC

Old Guard Group, Inc. OGGI

Omega Orthodontics, Inc. ORTH

Omega Research OMGA

OMNI Energy Services Corp. OMNI

Omniquip International, Inc. OMQP

Omtool, Ltd. OMTL

On Stage Entertainment, Inc. ONST

ONSALE, Inc. ONSL

Francis P. T. Leung
Hong Kong

Jorg K. Fischer
Switzerland

Lawrence Huntington
United States

Masaaki Kurokawa
Japan
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NURTF
NVAL
NVDC

NVDM
NVIC

NVLDF
NVLS
NVSN
NVST
NVUE

NWAC
NWCA
NWCI

NWCM
NWEQ
NWFI
NWIR

NWLIA
NWNG
NWPX
NWRE
NWSB
NWSS

NWSW
NWTL
NXCO
NXLK
NXTL
NXTR

NXUSF
NYBS
NYER
NYHC

NYMXF
NZSKY
NZYM

OAIC
OAKC
OAKF
OAKT
OAOT
OATS
OBCI
OBIE
OBJS

OCAD
OCAL
OCAS
OCCF

OCENY
OCFC
OCGT
OCIS
OCLI

OCLR
OCOM
ODETA

ODFL
ODIS
ODSI

ODWA
OFCP
OFIS

OFIXF
OFLDF

OFPI
OGAR
OGGI
OGLE

OGNB
OHMCG

OHRI
OHSC
OHSI
OHSL
OICO

OILYF
OISI

OKEN
OKSB

OLCMF
OLDB
OLGC
OLGR
OLOG

OLSWF

Name TSCE Country

Progenics Pharmaceuticals Inc. PGNX

Progenitor, Inc. PGEN

ProMedCo Management Company PMCO

PRT Group Inc. PRTG

PSW Technologies, Inc. PSWT

QAD, Inc. QADI

Qualix Group, Inc. QLIX

Qwest Communications International, Inc. QWST

Racing Champions Corporation RACN

Racom Systems, Inc. RCOM

RADCOM Ltd. RDCMF Israel

Radiant Systems, Inc. RADS

Rambus, Inc. RMBS

RealNetworks, Inc. RNWK

Recovery Network, Inc. RNET

Renex Corporation RENX

Retrospettiva, Inc. RTRO

RF Micro Devices, Inc. RFMD

RIT Technologies Ltd. RITTF Israel

Robocom Systems Inc. RIMS

Rock of Ages Corporation ROAC

Roslyn Bancorp, Inc. RSLN

RSL Communications, Ltd. RSLCF Bermuda

RWD Technologies, Inc. RWDT

Ryanair Holdings plc RYAAY Ireland

Saxton Incorporated SXTN

Scheid Vineyards, Inc. SVIN

Schick Technologies, Inc. SCHK

Schuff Steel Company SHUF

SCM Microsystems, Inc. SCMM

Scoop, Inc. SCPI

SEEC, Inc. SEEC

SIGA Pharmaceuticals, Inc. SGPH

Signature Eyewear, Inc. SEYE

Silgan Holdings, Inc. SLGN

Simulations Plus, Inc. SIMU

Sky Network Television Limited NZSKY New Zealand

Somnus Medical Technologies, Inc. SOMN

Southwest Bancorporation of Texas, Inc. SWBT

Special Metals Corporation SMCX

Specialty Care Network, Inc. SCNI

Spectra-Physics Lasers, Inc. SPLI

SpectRX, Inc. SPRX

Name TSCE Country

OptiSystems Solutions Ltd. OPTLF Israel

ORBIT/FR, Inc. ORFR

Oregon Trail Financial Corp. OTFC

Organic Food Products, Inc. OFPI

OrthAlliance, Inc. ORAL

OSI Systems, Inc. OSIS

Outsource International, Inc. OSIX

Overland Data, Inc. OVRL

OYO Geospace Corporation OYOG

PacificHealth Laboratories, Inc. PHLI

PalEx, Inc. PALX

Paper Warehouse, Inc. PWHS

Paradise Music & Entertainment, Inc. PDSE

PAULA Financial PFCO

PC411, Inc. PCFR

Peak International Limited PEAKF Bermuda

Peapod, Inc. PPOD

Pegasus Systems, Inc. PEGS

Peoples-Sidney Financial Corporation PSFC

Peregrine Systems, Inc. PRGN

Pericom Semiconductor Corporation PSEM

Peritus Software Services, Inc. PTUS

Pervasive Software Inc. PVSW

Petroglyph Energy, Inc. PGEI

Photoelectron Corporation PECX

Physicians’ Specialty Corp. ENTS

Piranha Interactive Publishing, Inc. PRAN

Pivot Rules, Inc. PVTR

Positron Fiber Systems Corp. PFSCF Canada

Power-One, Inc. PWER

Power Integration, Inc. POWI

Precision Auto Care, Inc. PACI

Preferred Employers Holding, Inc. PEGI

Premier Concepts, Inc. FAUX

Premier Research Worldwide, Inc. PRWW

Premium Cigars International, Ltd. PCIG

Preview Travel, Inc. PTVL

Prime Bancshares, Inc. PBTX

Princeton Video Image, Inc. PVII

Priority Healthcare Corp. PHCC

ProBusiness Services, Inc. PRBZ

Professional Transportation Group Ltd., Inc. TRUC

Profile Technologies, Inc. PRTK

Elie Saouaf
France

Christian Strenger
Germany

John Manser
Great Britain

Michael Marks
Great Britain
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OMED
OMEF
OMGA
OMGR
OMKT
OMNI
OMNS
OMPT
OMQP
OMTL
ONBK
ONCO
ONDI
ONEL
ONPR
ONPT
ONSI
ONSL
ONSS
ONST
ONTC
ONXX
ONYX
OPMRF
OPMX
OPPCF
OPSC
OPSI
OPTC
OPTI
OPTK
OPTLF
OPTN
OPTQ
OPTS
OPTT
ORAL
ORBI
ORBKF
ORBT
ORCI
ORCL
ORCTF
OREM
OREX
ORFR
ORLY
ORNGY
OROA
ORPH
ORTC
ORTH
ORTL
ORVX
ORYX
OSBC
OSFT
OSHSF
OSII
OSIP
OSIS
OSIX
OSKY
OSSI
OSTE
OSTX
OTCM
OTEXF
OTFC
OTRKB
OTRX
OTTR
OUSA
OUTL
OVBC
OVID
OVON
OVRL
OWAV
OWOS
OXGN
OXHP
OXIS
OYOG
OZEMY
OZON

Name TSCE Country

Spiros Development Corp. II, Inc. SDCOZ

Sportsline USA, Inc. SPLN

SPR, Inc. SPRI

Staff Leasing, Inc. STFF

Star Buffet, Inc. STRZ

STAR Telecommunications, Inc. STRX

Startec Global Communications Corp. STGC

Sterigenics International, Inc. STER

Stirling Cooke Brown Holdings, Limited SCBHF Bermuda

Storage Dimensions, Inc. STDM

Success Bancshares, Inc. SXNB

Summit Holding Southeast, Inc. SHSE

Sun Hydraulics Corporation SNHY

Surrey, Inc. SOAP

Syntel, Inc. SYNT

Syscomm International Corporation SYCM

T & W Financial Corporation TWFC

Take-Two Interactive Software, Inc. TTWO

Tekgraf, Inc. TKGFA

Telegroup, Inc. TGRP

Telepartner A/S TPARY Denmark

Teligent, Inc. TGNT

Template Software, Inc. TMPL

The A Consulting Team, Inc. TACX

The Children’s Place Retail Stores, Inc. PLCE

The Judge Group, Inc. JUDG

The Orlando Predators Entertainment, Inc. PRED

Thermacell Technologies, Inc. VCLL

Tier Technologies, Inc. TIER

Tomorrow’s Morning, Inc. TOMM

Total Control Products, Inc. TCPS

Total Entertainment Restaurant Corp. TENT

Toymax International, Inc. TMAX

Track ‘n Trail TKTL

Trailer Bridge, Inc. TRBR

TransCoastal Marine Services, Inc. TCMS

Transcrypt International, Inc. TRII

Travel Services International, Inc. TRVL

Trendwest Resorts, Inc. TWRI

Trimeris, Inc. TRMS

Tropical Sportswear International Corp. TSIC

TSI International Software Ltd TSFW

U.S. Timberlands Company, L.P. TIMBZ

Name TSCE Country

U.S. Vision, Inc. USVI

U.S.A. Floral Products, Inc. ROSI

UBICS, Inc. UBIX

UNIFAB International, Inc. UFAB

Union Community Bancorp UCBC

UNIVEC, Inc. UNVC

USWeb Corporation USWB

Valley National Gases, Inc. VNGI

Vari-Lite International, Inc. LITE

VDI Media VDIM

Vestcom International, Inc. VESC

Virgin Express Holdings plc VIRGY England

Vision Twenty-One, Inc. EYES

Vista Medical Technologies, Inc. VMTI

Vistana, Inc. VSTN

Visual Data Corporation VDAT

Warner Chilcott Public Limited Company WCRXY Ireland

Warwick Community Bancorp, Inc. WSBI

Waste Industries, Inc. WWIN

Wesley Jessen VisionCare, Inc. WJCO

Wheels Sports Group, Inc. WHEL

White Cap Industries, Inc. WHCP

Wilsons The Leather Experts, Inc. WLSN

World of Science, Inc. WOSI

Young Innovations, Inc. YDNT

Yurie Systems, Inc. YURI

ZYMETX, Inc. ZMTX

Zindart Limited ZNDTY Hong Kong

Marzuki Usman
Indonesia

R. Brian Williamson
Great Britain

Deepak Vaidya
India

George E. K. Teo
Singapore

In addition, there were 157 other
new listings on Nasdaq in 1997
including switches, seasoned
securities, spin-offs, mergers, etc.



OZRK
PAASF
PABN
PACC
PACE
PACI

PACK
PAGE
PAGI

PAGZ
PAIR

PALM
PALX

PAMC
PAMM
PAMX
PANA
PANL

PANRA
PAPA
PARA
PARF
PARL
PARS
PATH
PATI

PATK
PAUH

PAWN
PAYX
PBCI

PBCT
PBFI

PBHC
PBIO
PBIX

PBKB
PBKS
PBMI
PBNK
PBSF
PBTC
PBTX
PBYP
PCAI

PCAR
PCBC
PCCG
PCCI
PCDI
PCES
PCFC
PCFR

PCHM
PCIG
PCLE

PCMS
PCNA
PCNI
PCOL

PCOM
PCOP
PCRV
PCSN
PCSS
PCTH
PCTL
PCTV
PCTY
PCYC
PDCO
PDEX
PDKL

PDLCF
PDLI

PDLPY
PDMC
PDSE
PDSF

PEAKF
PEBK
PEBO
PECX
PEDE
PEEK
PEGA

44

The National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (NASD) experienced another strong financial

year in 1997. Consolidated income before provision for income taxes reached $69.7 million,

while net income was $36.1 million.

Record revenues of $634.4 million were achieved in 1997, an increase of 21 percent over the

1996 total of $524.8 million.The robust financial success reflected the performance of the secu-

rities industry overall, and was particularly fueled by

the sharp growth in trading volume of The Nasdaq

Stock Market (Nasdaq), up 19 percent to an aver-

age of 648 million shares per day; the rapidly esca-

lating use of Nasdaq’s order routing, execution and

comparison systems; and growth in the sale of

market information. Specifically, combined rev-

enues from the distribution of market data to desk-

tops and transaction-based fees for use of Nasdaq

systems rose by 40 percent to $267.8 million.The

population of professional retail, institutional, trader

and non-professional Nasdaq desktop subscribers

rose nearly 24 percent to a record 415,000 devices.

Recognizing sharp expansion in the use of the

SelectNet execution facility during 1997, the Board

voted to reduce transaction fees by one-half in the

fourth quarter, and has followed that action with a

further significant lessening and restructuring of

the fees for this service in 1998. On the regulatory side, assessments based on members’ busi-

ness volumes grew by $16 million, providing needed funding for regulatory initiatives aimed at

responding to the SEC’s 21(a) report and other emerging regulatory issues. Also, regulatory fees

and fines increased by approximately $7.6 million, attributable to the volume surge in Nasdaq

share trading and the collection of several large disciplinary fines, respectively. Also of note dur-

ing 1997, the Board passed a series of pricing changes applicable to the dispute resolution ser-

vice, the largest such facility in the United States, to provide needed resources for the growing

demand for its use.

Despite the growth in revenues and the steps taken to lower certain Nasdaq transaction

fees, management also directed its attention to the organization’s cost structure during the last

year. A reinvestment program,“Reinvesting for Our Future,” was launched involving each and

every employee to challenge how the NASD conducts business, with a view toward improving

the cost and efficiency of its operations.The program was highly successful, resulting in iden-

tified cost savings of over $38 million or 6.5 percent of NASD’s budget which were realizable in

the current and future years.These savings were used to fund higher priority initiatives and

operations for the current and future years. Specifically, incremental resources were targeted to

respond to the commitment to the SEC to spend $100 million over the period 1996 through

Management Report on Financial Operations | National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.

Salvatore F. Sodano, Deputy Chief Operating
Officer and Chief Financial Officer



PEGI
PEGS
PELRY
PEMFF
PENC
PENG
PENN
PENX
PERC
PERF
PERI
PERLF
PERM
PERT
PESC
PESI
PETC
PETD
PETM
PETR
PEZVF
PFACP
PFBI
PFCO
PFDC
PFED
PFFB
PFFC
PFGC
PFGI
PFINA
PFKY
PFNC
PFNT
PFSB
PFSCF
PFSL
PGDA
PGEI
PGEN
PGEX
PGLAF
PGLD
PGNS
PGNX
PGTV
PGTZ
PGWCZ
PHBK
PHCC
PHELK
PHFC
PHHM
PHLI
PHLY
PHMX
PHOC
PHON
PHRX
PHSB
PHSE
PHSV
PHSYA
PHTN
PHXX
PHYC
PHYN
PHYS
PHYX
PIAM
PICM
PICO
PIFI
PIHC
PILL
PINN
PIOG
PIONA
PIOS
PIPEQ
PIXR
PIXT
PJAM
PJTV
PKOH
PKPS
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2001 to enhance NASD’s market surveillance systems, including development and implementa-

tion of an enhanced order audit trail, and to increase staffing in the areas of examinations, sur-

veillance, enforcement and internal audit.The past year also saw continued investment in the

expansion of market systems and facilities to support the rapid escalation in Nasdaq volumes

and attendant utilization. In particular, a $35 million expansion of Nasdaq’s primary data center

was completed, providing sufficient capacity to support anticipated needs for the near future.

Nasdaq also stepped up its marketing and advertising efforts aimed at providing recognition

and brand equity for its listed companies among investors, both domestically and international-

ly, to buttress the capital raising efforts of these issuers. Finally, in late 1997, the NASD reached

agreement with MCI Communications Corporation to replace and upgrade the Nasdaq net-

work connecting its computerized market facilities to the market participants. This agreement,

which provides for a minimum guarantee of $300 million through the year 2003, which costs

will be covered directly from market participants, will immediately provide capacity at a 2 bil-

lion share day level, scalable up to 8 billion shares.

During 1997, the NASD also made considerable progress in its enterprise-wide program start-

ed in 1996 to convert its corporate, regulatory and market computer systems and applications to

be year 2000 compliant.To date, the program has focused on the assessment, analysis, remedia-

tion, and testing of corporate business and market systems to be year 2000 certified compliant

by the end of 1998. Focus of the program in 1999 will be to provide assurance that NASD’s sys-

tems interface with external systems of members, vendors and other markets. At December 31,

1997, approximately 25 percent of the NASD’s systems were compliant, with cumulative spend-

ing on the program at $10 million.The current projection for total spending on the program

from 1996 through 1999 is approximately $25 million, which is being funded through operating

cash flows.The NASD is expensing all costs associated with these system changes.

The budget process for 1998 continued the emphasis on cost awareness, requiring zero-

based development of operating costs for baseline activities as well as new business initiatives

to ensure that revenues generated from members, issuers and others are expended in as pru-

dent a manner as possible.

Capital spending on property and equipment reached a peak of $121.6 million in 1997,

marked by significant outlays for computer mainframe/server, facilities and client/desktop

acquisitions in support of the growth of NASD’s services. During 1997, the NASD completed

the expansion of Nasdaq’s primary data center, which will provide ample capacity for handling

substantial escalation in transaction volumes and support future expected multi-billion share

day trading activity.

Working capital of $178.4 million, including the non-current portion of unrestricted invest-

ments, remains solid despite the record outlay for capital spending. In fact, continued favorable

financial returns for the last four years have enabled the NASD to invest more than $300 million

in capital programs while maintaining liquidity at prudent levels.



PLAB
PLAN
PLAT
PLAY
PLCC
PLCE

PLCM
PLDI

PLEN
PLFC
PLFE
PLLL

PLNR
PLSIA
PLSK
PLSS
PLTN
PLUS
PLXS

PMCO
PMCP
PMCS
PMED
PMFG
PMFI

PMGIF
PMID
PMIS

PMOR
PMRP
PMRX
PMRY
PMSI
PMTC
PMTI
PMTS
PMWI
PNBC
PNBK

PNCCG
PNCL
PNDA
PNDR
PNFI

PNRG
PNTGF

PNTK
POCC
POCI

POLXF
POLY
POOL
POOR

POPEZ
POSO
POSS
POWI
POWL
POWR
POYO
PPAR

PPCCP
PPDI
PPLS

PPOD
PPRT
PPTI

PPTV
PRAC
PRAN
PRBC
PRBZ
PRCC

PRCM
PRCN
PRCP
PRCT
PRCY

PRDM
PRED
PREN
PREZ

PRFM
PRFN
PRGN
PRGO
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Management is responsible for the preparation, integrity, and objectivity of the consolidated

financial statements of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (NASD).This responsi-

bility includes the selection of accounting procedures and practices, which are in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles.The consolidated financial statements have

been prepared in conformity with these procedures and practices applied on a consistent

basis.These consolidated financial statements reflect informed judgments and estimates, that

management believes to be reasonable, in the determination of certain data used in the

accounting and reporting process.

The NASD maintains an effective system of internal accounting controls that is periodically

modified and improved to correspond with changes in NASD’s operations.This system of inter-

nal controls is designed to provide assurance that the assets of the NASD are safeguarded

against loss from unauthorized use or disposition and that the books and records, from which

the consolidated financial statements were prepared, properly reflect the financial transactions

of the NASD. Important elements of the internal control system include capital and operating

budgets, which are subjected to continuous review and reporting throughout the year; an

organizational structure providing segregation of responsibilities; established policies and pro-

cedures; careful selection and training of qualified personnel; and an internal audit program

developed and carried out by NASD’s Internal Review Department.The Internal Review

Department is directly responsible to the Audit Committee of the Board of Governors of the

NASD. It is management’s opinion that the system of internal control as of December 31, 1997,

is effective in providing reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial statements are

free of material misstatement.

The Board of Governors of the NASD establishes charters for its Audit and Finance

Committees, as applicable.The Audit Committee reviews the following: the adequacy and

effectiveness of the NASD’s internal controls; significant financial reporting issues and practices,

including new or changed accounting principles and disclosures; the scope and results of the

annual audit of the NASD’s financial statements by the independent auditors; and monitors the

independence and performance of the independent auditors.The Audit Committee consists

exclusively of non-employee governors, a majority of whom are non-industry governors, includ-

ing at least two public governors.

The Finance Committee oversees the financial operations and condition of the NASD

through review and discussion of current financial results; reviews annual operating and capital

budgets and material modifications thereto; and reviews all other financial matters related to

the operation and financial position of the NASD.The Finance Committee, with the exception

of the Chairman and CEO of the NASD, consists of non-employee governors, a majority of

whom are non-industry members.

The NASD’s independent auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, have conducted an audit in accor-

dance with generally accepted auditing standards of the consolidated financial statements of

NASD for the years ended December 31, 1997 and 1996. Representatives of Ernst & Young LLP

have met with NASD management and with members of the Audit Committee of the Board of

Governors with and without management present to discuss the results of their audits and

other accounting, auditing and financial matters.

Management Report on Financial Reporting Responsibility | National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets | National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.

1997 1996

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $   43,551 $    37,193

Investments — current 108,713 74,762

Receivables and other current assets, net 76,160 63,699

Total current assets 228,424 175,654

Investments — restricted 28,112 —

Investments — non-current 193,525 192,076

Property and equipment:

Land, buildings and improvements 89,440 61,761

Data processing equipment and software 232,783 174,242

Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements 125,237 106,407

447,460 342,410

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (203,834) (165,374)

243,626 177,036

Other assets 3,884 3,450

$ 697,571 $ 548,216

Liabilities and Members' Equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 146,447 $   109,596

CRD deposits and deferred revenue 49,358 54,007

Net SEC fees 47,726 —

Total current liabilities 243,531 163,603

Long-term debt 25,000 —

Accrued pension costs 14,740 14,040

Other liabilities 16,493 8,840

Total liabilities 299,764 186,483

Members' equity 397,807 361,733

$ 697,571 $ 548,216

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Year ended December 31

(in thousands)
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Consolidated Statements of Income and Members’ Equity | National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.

1997 1996

Revenue

Market information and transaction service fees $ 267,811 $ 191,138

Nasdaq issuer fees 113,019 111,832

Member assessments 81,206 65,252

Registration and qualification fees 64,493 59,970

Regulatory fees and fines 39,453 31,859

Interest and other 33,209 29,525

Corporate finance fees 19,585 21,932

Arbitration fees 15,604 13,275

Total Revenue 634,380 524,783

Expenses

Compensation 246,286 198,094

Professional and contract services 129,463 94,075

Depreciation and amortization 51,989 40,509

Computer operations and data communications 44,037 33,757

Occupancy 25,825 19,579

Publications, supplies and postage 22,285 20,238

Travel, meetings and training 21,374 19,464 

Other 23,407 16,338

Total Expenses 564,666 442,054

Income before provision for income taxes 69,714 82,729

Provision for income taxes 33,640 27,882

Net income 36,074 54,847

Members’ equity at beginning of year 361,733 306,886

Members’ equity at end of year $ 397,807 $ 361,733

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

(in thousands)

Year ended December 31
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows | National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.

1997 1996

Net Income $  36,074 $  54,847

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 51,989 40,509

Gain on sale of property and equipment – (1,958)

Provision for deferred income taxes 3,751 1,038

(Increase) in receivables and other current assets (12,461) (12,144)

(Increase) decrease in other assets (434) 787

Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses 36,851 27,864

(Decrease) increase in CRD deposits and deferred revenue (4,649) 7,307

Increase (decrease) in accrued pension and other liabilities 4,602 (1,429)

Net cash provided by operating activities 115,723 116,821

Investing activities 

Proceeds from redemptions of investments 170,215 127,960

Purchases of investments (233,727) (156,176)

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment – 4,274

Purchases of property and equipment (118,579) (75,162)

Net cash used in investing activities (182,091) (99,104)

Financing activities 

Increase in net SEC fees 47,726 –

Proceeds from acquisition of long-term debt 25,000 –

Net cash provided by financing activities 72,726 –

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,358 17,717

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 37,193 19,476

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $  43,551 $  37,193

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

(in thousands)

Year ended December 31
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements | National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Principles of Consolidation — The consolidated financial statements consist of accounts of the

National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (“the NASD”or “the Company”), including its wholly

owned subsidiaries The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. (Nasdaq), NASD Regulation, Inc. (NASDR), Nasdaq

International Market Initiatives, Inc. (NIMI), Nasdaq International, Ltd. (Nasdaq International), Securities

Dealers Insurance Company Ltd. (SDIC), and the Securities Dealers Risk Purchasing Group, Inc. (SDRP)

after elimination of all significant intercompany transactions.

NASD oversees the activities of the U.S. broker/dealer profession and regulates the Nasdaq

market and the over-the-counter securities markets. Nasdaq develops and operates a variety of

marketplace systems and services and formulates market policies and listing criteria. NASDR 

carries out the NASD’s regulatory functions, including onsite examinations of member firms, con-

tinuous automated surveillance of markets operated by Nasdaq, and disciplinary actions against

broker/dealers and their professionals. NIMI offers a variety of consulting services to assist emerg-

ing and established securities markets around the world with both technology applications 

and regulation. Nasdaq International promotes the Nasdaq market worldwide. SDIC is a captive

insurance company established to reinsure risks associated with the member fidelity bond 

program. SDRP is a risk purchasing group formed to make available professional liability insurance

for NASD members.

As an association established to regulate the Nasdaq market and the over-the-counter securi-

ties markets and provide information and trading services to market participants, the Company’s

receivables are concentrated with firms in the broker/dealer industry.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted

accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.Actual results could differ

from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents — Cash and cash equivalents include demand cash and all non-restricted

investments purchased with a remaining maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase.

Investments — Management determines the appropriate classification of investments at the time

of purchase and reevaluates such designation as of each balance sheet date. Investments, consist-

ing principally of debt securities, are classified as held-to-maturity in accordance with the invest-

ment policy of the Company to hold securities to maturity. Investments are stated at amortized

cost, adjusted for amortization of premium and accretion of discounts to maturity.

Property and Equipment — Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depre-

ciation. Equipment acquired under capital leases is recorded at the lower of fair market value or

the present value of future lease payments. Depreciation and amortization are provided on the

straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Estimated useful lives generally

range from 10 years to 40 years for buildings and improvements; 2 years to 5 years for data pro-

cessing equipment and software; and 5 years to 10 years for furniture and equipment. Leasehold

improvements are amortized over the lesser of the useful life of the improvement or the term of

the applicable lease.

Software — Significant purchased application software, and operational software that is an integral

part of computer hardware, are capitalized and amortized on the straight-line method over their

estimated useful lives. All other software development costs are charged to expense as incurred.



SABI
SACM
SAESY
SAFC
SAFE
SAFM
SAFT
SAGC
SAGE
SALD
SALT
SALV
SAMC
SAND
SANG
SANM
SANO
SANYY
SAPE
SASOY
SASR
SATC
SATH
SAVB
SAVLY
SAVO
SAWS
SBAS
SBCFA
SBCM
SBCO
SBEI
SBFL
SBGA
SBGI
SBHC
SBIB
SBIG
SBIO
SBIT
SBLI
SBNK
SBSE
SBTK
SBTVF
SBUF
SBUX
SCAI
SCBHF
SCBI
SCBS
SCCB
SCCO
SCES
SCHI
SCHK
SCHL
SCHN
SCHR
SCIO
SCIXF
SCLN
SCMM
SCNG
SCNI
SCOC
SCON
SCOP
SCOR
SCOT
SCPI
SCSC
SCSWF
SCTC
SCTR
SCUR
SCVL
SDCOZ
SDII
SDIX
SDLI
SDRC
SDTI
SDYN
SEAC
SEBL

51

Advertising Costs — The Company expenses advertising costs in the periods in which the costs are

incurred. Advertising expenses totaled $41,091,000 and $24,345,000 for 1997 and 1996, respective-

ly.These expenses are included in professional and contract services in the consolidated state-

ments of income and members’ equity.

Net SEC Fees — Pursuant to the National Securities Markets Improvement Act of 1996, the SEC is

permitted to collect a fee based on a percentage of the total dollar value of securities sold in the

Nasdaq market.These fees are designed to cover costs incurred by the government in the super-

vision and regulation of securities markets and securities professionals.The NASD charges these

fees monthly to its members and remits them to the United States Treasury semiannually on

March 15th and September 30th. Net SEC fees of $47,726,000 at December 31, 1997 represent

amounts charged to members less amounts billed and not yet collected, which will be included

in the March 15, 1998 remittance to the United States Treasury.

CRD Deposits and Deferred Revenue — CRD deposits represent deposits made by NASD member

firms into the Company’s Central Registration Depository (CRD) system.These deposits are used

by the member firms to pay for CRD transactions, including registration fees charged by states

and other self-regulatory organizations. CRD deposits totaled approximately $25,056,000 at

December 31, 1997. Deferred revenues represent cash received for which services have not yet

been provided.Total deferred revenues at December 31, 1997 were approximately $24,302,000.

Classifications — Certain amounts for the prior year have been reclassified to conform with the

1997 presentation.

Income Taxes — NASD and NASDR are tax-exempt organizations under the Internal Revenue Code

(IRC) Section 501(c)(6). All other subsidiaries of NASD are taxable entities.The provision for income

taxes includes amounts currently payable and amounts deferred to or from other years as a result

of differences in the timing of income or expenses for financial reporting and tax purposes.

2. Investments 

Investments are made in U.S.Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. Government-sponsored

enterprises and are classified as held-to-maturity in accordance with the investment policy of

the Company.Throughout the year, up to 5 percent of the investments may be classified as

available-for-sale to satisfy cash management needs.

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of debt securities at December 31, by contractu-

al maturity, are shown below  (in thousands):

1997 1996

Estimated Estimated

Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value

Due in one year or less $ 108,713 $ 108,684 $ 74,762 $ 74,885

Due after one year through 

five years 221,637 224,295 192,076 192,545

$ 330,350 $ 332,979 $ 266,838 $ 267,430

The gross unrealized gains and (losses) of the investments at December 31, 1997 were

$2,731,000 and ($102,000), respectively. The gross unrealized gains and (losses) at December

31, 1996 were $1,275,000 and ($683,000), respectively.



3. Long-Term Debt

In May 1997, the Company entered into a $25,000,000 note payable with a financial institution

(the Lender). The note requires monthly interest payments at a rate of 7.41 percent through

May 2007. In May 2007, NASD will incur interest equal to the Lender’s cost of funds rate, as

defined in the agreement, plus .5 percent. Principal payments are scheduled to begin in 2007

and continue in equal monthly installments until maturity in 2012. NASD is required to main-

tain, in a separate custody account with the Lender, an amount equal to approximately 110

percent of the outstanding principal balance. The investments collateralizing the note are sep-

arately disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet as restricted. Interest payments under the

agreement totaled $1,009,000 for 1997. Of this amount, $381,000 was capitalized in connec-

tion with the expansion of NASD facilities. The fair value of the outstanding principal balance

at December 31, 1997 approximates the carrying value at that date.

4. Income Taxes

The income tax provision includes the following amounts for the year ended December 31:

1997 1996

Current income taxes:

Federal $ 23,890 $ 21,630

State 5,999 5,214

Total current income taxes 29,889 26,844

Deferred income taxes:

Federal 3,005 865

State 746 173

Total deferred income taxes 3,751 1,038

Total provision for income taxes $ 33,640 $ 27,882

Income taxes paid during the year $ 29,074 $ 25,133

The effective tax rates for the taxable entities were 45 percent and 40 percent for 1997 and

1996, respectively.

Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for

income tax purposes. Components of the net deferred tax liability consisted of the following

as of December 31:

In thousands 1997 1996

Deferred tax assets:

Deferred entry fees $    518 $ 2,624

Compensation and benefits 399 2,016

Other 1,116 356

Total deferred tax assets 2,033 4,996

Deferred tax liability:

Depreciation (7,398) (6,610) 

Net deferred tax liability $(5,365) $(1,614)
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(In thousands)

(In thousands)
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5. Employee Benefits

The Company maintains a noncontributory, defined-benefit pension plan, along with other arrange-

ments, for the benefit of eligible employees.The benefits are primarily based on years of service and

the employees' average salary during the highest 60 consecutive months of employment.

The Company's funding policy is to contribute annually the minimum requirement under

ERISA, subject to the full funding limitation imposed by the Internal Revenue Service.

Contributions of $7,270,000 and $6,533,000 were required for 1997 and 1996, respectively. The

following table sets forth the plans' net pension cost for the years ended December 31:

1997 1996

Service cost $   6,743 $ 6,301

Interest cost 5,860 5,364

Actual return on plan assets (10,322) (8,461) 

Net deferral and amortization 7,120 4,655

Net pension cost $   9,401 $ 7,859

The following table sets forth the plans' funded status and amounts recognized in the bal-

ance sheets as of December 31:

1997 1996 

Actuarial present value of benefit obligations:

Accumulated benefit obligation, including vested

benefits of $45,188 in 1997 and $40,748 in 1996 $ 53,188 $ 47,471 

Projected benefit obligation 90,530 81,288

Less plan assets at fair value, principally 

equities and U.S. Government and agency debt 68,467 56,054 

22,063 25,234 

Unrecognized net asset 2,119 2,335 

Unrecognized net gain (loss) 1,039 1,231 

Prior service cost (3,211) (3,208)

Accrued pension cost 22,010 25,592 

Less current portion 7,270 11,552 

Long-term accrued pension cost $ 14,740 $ 14,040 

The weighted-average discount rate and rate of increase in future salary levels used in

determining the actuarial present value of the projected benefit obligation were 7.25 percent

and 5.5 percent, respectively, at December 31, 1997, and 7.75 percent and 5.5 percent, respec-

tively, at December 31, 1996. The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets was 9 per-

cent for 1997 and 1996. The unrecognized net asset is being recognized over 20 years, the

average remaining service period of employees expected to receive benefits under the plan.

The Company also maintains a voluntary savings plan for employees. Employees are imme-

diately eligible to make contributions to the plan and after one year of service are also eligible

for an employer contribution match at an amount equal to 50 percent of the first 6 percent of

eligible employee contributions. Eligible plan participants may also receive an additional dis-

cretionary match from the Company. Savings plan expense for the years 1997 and 1996 was

$5,818,000 and $5,064,000, respectively. The expense included a discretionary match autho-

rized by the Board of Governors totaling $2,812,000 for 1997 and $2,422,000 for 1996.

(In thousands)

(In thousands)
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6. Leases

Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements include amounts under capital leases, net

of accumulated depreciation and amortization, totaling $1,030,000 and $1,383,000 at

December 31, 1997 and 1996, respectively.

The Company leases certain office space and equipment in connection with its operations.

The majority of these leases contain escalation clauses based on increases in property taxes

and building operating costs. Certain of these leases also contain renewal options. Rent

expense for operating leases was $17,072,000 in 1997 and $13,318,000 in 1996. Future mini-

mum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases with initial or remaining terms of

one year or more consisted of the following at December 31, 1997:

Operating 
Leases

1998 $ 12,172

1999 11,153

2000 11,090

2001 10,306

2002 9,474

Remaining years 22,064

Total minimum lease payments $76,259 

7. Commitments and Contingencies 

There are certain legal proceedings pending against the Company. Management believes,

based upon the opinion of counsel, that any liabilities or settlements arising from these pro-

ceedings will not have a material effect on the financial position or results of operations of the

Company.

In November 1997, the Company entered into an agreement with MCI Communications

Corporation to replace the existing data network that connects the Nasdaq market facilities to

market participants.The contract contains a minimum guarantee of $300,000,000 to be incurred

through November 2003. Data communication costs incurred under network agreements are

directly charged to market participants and, therefore, are netted against these revenues.

8. Business Segment Information 

The NASD operates two primary business segments: NASDR and Nasdaq. NASDR and Nasdaq

provide substantially all of the Company’s revenues. As described in the summary of significant

accounting policies, these segments also represent separate identifiable organizations. Each seg-

ment has a President that reports directly to the Company’s CEO and the respective Boards.

Services provided by all other potential segments represent less than 10% of consolidated gross

revenues. Accordingly, activities related to these entities, including those of the NASD Parent, are

included in All Other. Revenues generated by entities in All Other consist mainly of interest

income and assessments on registered representatives charged to cover regulatory and market

policy functions.

(In thousands)
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NASDR — Carries out the regulatory functions of the Company, including on-site examinations of

member firms, continuous automated surveillance of markets operated by Nasdaq, and discipli-

nary actions against broker/dealers and their professionals. Fees are assessed to cover particular

services, both regulatory and non-regulatory, and member assessments are levied to cover

examinations and related regulatory functions.

Nasdaq — Develops and operates a variety of marketplace systems and services and formulates

market policies and listing criteria. Fees are charged for the sale or distribution of market data

and related information and for transactions using Nasdaq’s market facilities. Fees are also

charged to listed companies to cover the cost of Nasdaq’s value added services, as well as listing

qualification functions.

Segment Income or Loss
The NASD’s accounting policies for segments are the same as those described in the summary

of significant accounting policies. Management evaluates segment performance based on oper-

ating income or loss before income taxes.Transfers between segments are accounted for at cost.

1997*

NASDR Nasdaq All Other Consolidated

Revenues, principally from 

External Customers $220,080 $381,334 $ 11,772 $613,186

Interest Income, net 6,733 6,725 6,935 20,393

Direct Expenses,

Excluding Depreciation 208,461 196,085 107,330 511,876

Depreciation Expense 6,499 31,205 14,285 51,989

Intercompany Charges, net 11,065 78,503 (89,568) –

Operating Income Before 

Income Taxes 788 74,413 (5,487) 69,714

Income Taxes – 33,640 – 33,640

Total Assets 139,168 343,012 215,391 697,571

Working Capital, including 

non-current, unrestricted 

investments 42,542 92,589 43,288 178,419

Capital Expenditures 9,702 79,887 31,985 121,574

*The Company changed the structure of its internal organization in May 1996 with the creation

and operation of NASDR. Due to this change it would be impractical to disclose comparable infor-

mation for the year ended December 31, 1996.

(In thousands)
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Report of Independent Auditors | National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.

Board of Governors

National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of the National Association

of Securities Dealers, Inc., as of December 31, 1997, and 1996, and the related consolidated

statements of income and members’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. These

consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Association’s management. Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on

our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examin-

ing, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-

ments. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant esti-

mates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presenta-

tion. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all

material respects, the consolidated financial position of the National Association of Securities

Dealers, Inc., at December 31, 1997, and 1996, and the consolidated results of its operations

and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting

principles.

Washington, DC

February 20, 1998
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USTR
USTS
USVI

USWB
USWC
USWI

UTCI
UTDL
UTEK
UTIN
UTLX
UTOG
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Fixed Income Committee

Zack Snow, Chairman

Salomon Smith Barney

New York, NY 

W. Robb Hough, Jr.

William R. Hough & Co.

St. Petersburg, FL

Kreg Jones

D.A. Davidson & Company

Great Falls, MT

Robert E. Maina

Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner 

& Smith Incorporated

New York, NY

Gerald P. McBride

Prudential Securities Incorporated

New York, NY

Ronald M. Pyle

Stephens, Inc.

Little Rock, AR

Robert Santora

Dean Witter Reynolds Inc.

New York, NY

Pamela Scott

State Street Bank Global Advisors

Boston, MA

R. Charles Shufeldt

SunTrust Equitable Securities

Atlanta, GA

J. Richard Sipes

PaineWebber Incorporated

Weehawken, NJ

John R. Tormondsen

Goldman, Sachs & Co.

New York, NY

Independent Dealer/
Insurance Affiliate Committee

Todd A. Robinson, Chairman

LPL Financial Sevices

Boston, MA

Ellyn L. Brown

Baltimore, MD

Herbert H. Brown

Washington, DC

Priscilla S. Brown

LNC Equity Sales Corporation

Fort Wayne, IN

Bob Cogan

Capital Analyst, Inc.

Radnor, PA

Miles Gordon

Financial Network 

Investment Corporation

Torrance, CA

Arthur F. Grant

Cardaret, Grant & Co., Inc.

Syracuse, NY

M. Anthony Greene

Investment Management

& Research, Inc.

Atlanta, GA

Gerard A. Rocchi

W.S. Griffith & Co., Inc.

Hartford, CT

Don Saxon

Office of Comptroller

State of Florida

Tallahassee, FL

Richard V. Silver

The Equitable Life Assurance Society

of the U.S.

New York, NY

Mary Toumpas

American Skandia 

Shelton, CT

Robert H. Watts

John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance

Company

Boston, MA

Investment Companies
Committee

Paul G. Haaga, Jr., Chairman

Capital Research and 

Management Company

Los Angeles, CA

Daniel E. Carper

Lord, Abbett & Co.

New York, NY

David C. Conine

Alliance Capital

New York, NY

Steve Gibson

Colonial Group, Inc.

Boston, MA

Robert R. Glauber

John F. Kennedy School of

Government

Harvard University

Cambridge, MA

Stephen H. Hopkins

JPM Funds Management

New York, NY

Thomas P. Lemke

Strong Capital Management, Inc.

Milwaukee, WI

Mitchell M. Merin

Dean Witter InterCapital Inc.

New York, NY

Thomas W. Miltenberger

Edward Jones

St. Louis, MO

Todd A. Robinson

LPL Financial Services

Boston, MA

William N. Shiebler

Putnam Mutual Funds

Boston, MA

Marianne K. Smythe

Wilmer, Cutler & Pickering

Washington, DC

Mary Ann Tynan

Wellington Management Company

Boston, MA

Market Regulation Committee

Edward J. Johnsen, Chairman

J.P. Morgan & Co., Incorporated

New York, NY

Preston G. Athey

T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc.

Baltimore, MD

John C. Coffee, Jr.

Columbia University 

School of Law 

New York, NY

Sharon A. Gannon

State of Wisconsin Investment Board

Madison, WI

John P. Hughes

Janney Montgomery Scott Inc.

Philadelphia, PA

George P. Lawler

Merrill Lynch, Pierce,

Fenner & Smith Incorporated

New York, NY

James M. Martin

BT Alex. Brown

Baltimore, MD

James A. Mendrzycki

Parker/Hunter Incorporated

Pittsburgh, PA

Todd E. Petzel

The Common Fund

Westport, CT

Michael F. Reilly

Goldman, Sachs & Co.

New York, NY

Scott Schellhamer

Pilgrim Baxter & Associates

Wayne, PA

A. A. Sommer, Jr.

Morgan, Lewis & Bockius

Washington, DC

Susan Woodward

Menlo Park, CA

Membership Committee

Joyce L. Kramer, Chairman

CIBC Oppenheimer Corp.

New York, NY

Lewis E. Antone, Jr.

LPL Financial Services

Boston, MA

Robert M. Balentine, Jr.

Balentine & Company

Atlanta, GA

Lewis W. Brothers

PaineWebber Incorporated

Richmond, VA

David A. DeMuro

Lehman Brothers Inc.

New York, NY

John L. Dixon

Mutual Service Corporation

West Palm Beach, FL

J. Wendell Garrett

J.W. Garrett & Co.

Phoenix, AZ

William H. Hudnut III

The Urban Land Institute

Washington, DC

Louis S. Harvey

Dalbar

Boston, MA

Edgar M. Norris, Jr.

Edgar M. Norris & Co., Inc.

Greenville, SC

Ray Vass

Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner 

& Smith Incorporated

Plainsboro, NJ

Barbara L. Weaver

Howard, Weil, Labouisse, Fredrichs

Incorporated

New Orleans, LA

Robert A. Woeber

Arthurs, Lestrange & Company, Inc.

Pittsburgh, PA

UTVI
UVSGA
UVSL
VAALY
VABF
VAIB
VALE
VALM
VALN
VALU
VANS
VARL
VASO
VBAN
VBNJ
VBNK
VCAI
VCAM
VCBK
VCELA
VCLL
VCOM
VCSI
VDAT
VDCLF
VDIM
VDNX
VDRY
VECO
VELCF
VENGF
VENT
VENX
VERP
VERS
VESC
VETX
VFLX
VFSC
VGCO
VGHN
VGINF
VIAS
VICL
VICR
VIDA
VIDE
VIFL
VINF
VION
VIPIS
VIPT
VIRGY
VIRS
VISG
VISN
VISX
VITK
VITL
VKNG
VLAB
VLANS
VLCCF
VLFG
VLGEA
VLNC
VLNT
VLSI
VLTS
VMRK
VMRX
VMSI
VMTI
VNGI
VNTV
VOCLF
VOLVY
VONE
VOXL
VOXW
VPHM
VPUR
VRBA
VRES
VRGN
VRII
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District Committees

District 1
Northern California (the counties of

Monterey, San Benito, Fresno, and

Inyo, and the remainder of the state

north or west of such counties), in

Nevada (the counties of Esmeralda

and Nye, and the remainder of the

state north or west of such counties),

and Hawaii

Lawrence R. McKulla, Chairman

Deborah R. Gatzek, Vice Chairman

Steven R. Aaron

Janet W. Campbell

Glenn M. Colacurci

Douglas C. Heske

George A. Montes

Jerry Phillips

William Svoboda

District 2
Southern California (that part of the

state south or east of the counties of

Monterey, San Benito, Fresno, and

Inyo), southern Nevada (that part of

the state south or east of the coun-

ties of Esmeralda and Nye), and the

former U.S. Trust Territories

Robert L. Winston, Chairman

William D. Lippman, Vice Chairman

Margaret M. Black

Terry L. Chase

Lynda L. Faber

Robert C. Fisher

James B. Guillou, Sr.

Andrew E. Haas

Rodney D. Hagenbuch

William J. Porter, III

Richard E. Wiseley

Richard P. Woltman

District 3
Alaska, Arizona, Colorado, Idaho,

Montana, New Mexico, Oregon,

Utah, Washington and Wyoming

Edward J. Wiles, Jr., Chairman

Thomas L. McDonald, Vice Chairman

Bernard E. Brummel

Timothy H. Ganahl

Thomas R. Hislop

Gerald Meyer

John Morton

Thomas A. Petrie

Terry Lee Richards

Patrick C. Rile

Douglas E. Strand

Marshall Wallach

District 4
Iowa, Kansas, Minnesota, Missouri,

Nebraska, North Dakota, and South

Dakota

Todd W. Miller, Chairman

Douglas L. Kelly, Vice Chairman

Antonio J. Cecin

Cheryl Cook-Schneider

Robert J. Goodmanson

Arthur J. Kearney

John R. Kuddes

Albert W. Lauth

Lorri E. Mehaffey

Wayne H. Peterson

J. Joe Ricketts

Brent M. Weisenborn

District 5
Alabama, Arkansas, Kentucky,

Louisiana, Mississippi, Oklahoma, and

Tennessee

William T. Patterson, Chairman

David S. Patrick, Vice Chairman

James R. Allen

Benjamin D. Capshaw, III

R. Neal Culver

J. French Hill

Walter H. Johnson

James S. Jones

Dene R. Shipp

John C. West

District 6
Texas

Gary V. Murray, Chairman

William D. Connally, Vice Chairman

Jane E. Bates

William M. Bomar

Daniel C. Dooley

Ronald J. Gard

Titus H. Harris

Edward M. Milkie

Jim G. Rhodes

National Arbitration 
and Mediation Committee

Justin P. Klein, Chairman

Ballard, Spahr, Andrews & Ingersoll

Philadelphia, PA

AnnDrea M. Benson

Piper Jaffray Inc.

Minneapolis, MN

Herbert H. Brown

Washington, DC

Corbet F. Bryant, Jr.

Carrington, Coleman, Sloman &

Blumenthal, LLP

Dallas, TX

Mark A. Buckstein

Greenberg, Traurig, Hoffman, Lipoff,

Rosen & Quentel

Ft. Lauderdale, FL

William M. Cockrum

Anderson School of Management 

at UCLA

Los Angeles, CA

Joel E. Davidson

PaineWebber Incorporated

Weehawken, NJ

Roger M. Deitz

New York, NY

Douglas L. Kelly

A.G. Edwards & Sons, Inc.

St. Louis, MO

John R. Larson

Hinshaw & Culbertson

Minneapolis, MN

Susan T. MacKenzie

New York, NY

Mark E. Maddox

Maddox, Koeller & Hargett

Indianapolis, IN

Steven K. McGinnis

Titan Value Equities Group Inc.

Irvine, CA

Gerald F. Rath

Bingham Dana LLP

Boston, MA

Rosemary J. Shockman

Shockman & McKeagan

Scottsdale, AZ

Thomas J. Stipanowich

University of Kentucky

College of Law

Lexington, KY

Raymond E. Wooldridge

Southwest Securities Group, Inc.

Dallas, TX

Variable Insurance 
Products Committee

Clifford E. Kirsch, Chairman

Pruco Securities Corp.

Newark, NJ

Diane E. Ambler

Mayer, Brown & Platt

Washington, DC

Jane E. Bates

The Variable Annuity Marketing Co.

Houston, TX

Dennis J. Hess

PaineWebber Incorporated

Weehawken, NJ

Alice T. Kane

New York Life Insurance Company

New York, NY

Richard A. Karas

Nationwide Life Insurance Company

Columbus, OH

Bruce C. Long

New England Life

Boston, MA

Mark G. Lopez

LPL Financial Services

Boston, MA

Christopher P. Nicholas

Metropolitan Life Insurance

Company

New York, NY

Richard V. Silver

The Equitable Life Assurance Society

of the U.S.

New York, NY

Joseph Tomlinson

John Hancock Distributors, Inc.

Boston, MA

VRLK
VRLN
VRTS
VRTX
VRTY
VSAT
VSCI

VSCX
VSEC
VSEIF
VSGN
VSIN
VSIO
VSLF

VSNR
VSNT
VSTN
VSVR
VTCH
VTEK
VTEL
VTEX

VTNAF
VTRA
VTSS

VUPDA
VUTK
VVID

VVTV
VVUS

VWRX
VYRX
VYTL

WABC
WACC

WACLY
WAIN
WALB
WALK
WALL
WALS

WAMU
WAND
WANG

WARPF
WASH
WAST

WATFZ
WATR
WAVE
WAVO
WAVR
WAVT
WAXS
WAYN
WBKC
WBPR
WBST
WCAP
WCBI

WCBO
WCCI

WCEC
WCFB

WCII
WCLX

WCOM
WCRXY
WCSTF

WDEPY
WDFC

WDHD
WDRY
WEBB
WEBC
WEFC

WEHO
WELL

WERN
WEYS
WFDS
WFMI
WFSG
WFSI
WFSL

WGEN
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District 7
Florida, Georgia, North Carolina,

South Carolina, Virginia, Puerto Rico,

the Canal Zone, and the Virgin Islands

Franklin C. Golden, Chairman

Stuart J. Knobel, Vice Chairman

Mary Jae Abbitt

Robert M. Balentine

James J. Buddle

Robert J. Brietz

William H. Carter

Dan B. Franks

M. Anthony Greene

George J. Jennison

J. Lee Keiger III

David G. Pittinos

R. Charles Shufeldt

Raymond W. Snow

Clifford M. Steinhauer

Thomas A. Tollette

Thomas K. Tracy

District 8
Illinois, Indiana, Michigan, Ohio,

Wisconsin, as well as part of upstate

New York (the counties of Monroe,

Livingston, and Steuben, and the

remainder of the state west of such

counties) 

Robert T. Clutterbuck, Chairman

Robert A. Vallone, Vice Chairman

William C. Alsover

James A. Bowen

Wallen L. Crane

Kenneth R. Ehinger

William L. Faulkner

Barbara J. Lopian

Peter C. McCabe, Jr.

Alan H. Newman

Anthony M. Sanfilippo

John L. Schlifer

Perry L. Taylor

Bruce J.Young

Michael J.Young

District 9
Delaware, District of Columbia,

Maryland, Pennsylvania, West Virginia,

as well as southern New Jersey (the

counties of Atlantic, Burlington,

Camden, Cape May, Cumberland,

Gloucester, Mercer, Ocean, and

Salem)

Mark W. Cresap, Chairman

Eric H. Pookrum, Vice Chairman

Joel Calvo

Irving A. Faigen

Phillip C. Graham

Joseph E. Links

William F. Rienhoff IV

District 10
The five boroughs of New York City

and the adjacent counties in New

York (Nassau, Orange, Putnam,

Rockland, Suffolk, and Westchester)

and New Jersey (except for the coun-

ties of Atlantic, Burlington, Camden,

Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester,

Mercer, Ocean, and Salem)

Mark T. Commander, Chairman

Ralph T. Costanza, Vice Chairman

Arthur S. Ainsberg

Laurence H. Bertan

William P. Behrens

Joan Caridi

Joseph A. Gottlieb

Joan S. Green

S. Randy Gretz

Allen S. Jacobson

Mark D. Madoff

James Malespina

Harold G. Ognelodh

Brian T. Shea

Stuart L. Sindell

Stuart J. Voisin

Ronald Weiss

District 11
Connecticut, Maine, Massachusetts,

New Hampshire, Rhode Island,

Vermont, and New York (except for

the counties of Nassau, Orange,

Putnam, Rockland, Suffolk, and

Westchester; the counties of Monroe,

Livingston, and Steuben and the

remainder of the state west of such

counties; and the five boroughs of

New York City)

Edward L. Sherr, Chairman

Michael L. Kerley, Vice Chairman

Harry H. Branning

Stephanie Brown

Michael J. Dell’Olio

David C. Gowell

Frank V. Knox, Jr.

Laurie Lennox

Wilson G. Saville

William N. Shiebler

Richard P. Tuttle

Kenneth Unger

WGHI
WGNR
WGOV
WGTI
WHCP
WHEL
WHGB
WHIT
WHRC
WHRTF
WIDEF
WIKD
WIKS
WILCF
WILM
WIND
WIRE
WIRL
WIZTF
WJCO
WKGP
WLDA
WLET
WLFC
WLFI
WLHN
WLMR
WLPT
WLRF
WLSN
WMAR
WMCO
WMFG
WNDR
WNMP
WNNB
WNUT
WOFC
WONE
WOSI
WPEC
WPIC
WPNE
WPOG
WPPGY
WPSN
WRLD
WRLS
WRNB
WRSI
WSAU
WSBC
WSBI
WSCI
WSDI
WSFS
WSGC
WSHI
WSII
WSMP
WSTE
WSTF
WSTL
WSTNA
WSTR
WTBK
WTDI
WTEC
WTEK
WTFC
WTHG
WTLK
WTNY
WTRS
WTSC
WTSLA
WTZRA
WVFC
WVVI
WWCA
WWES
WWFC
WWIN
WWLI
WWTR
WYMN
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Corporate Officers

The National Association of
Securities Dealers, Inc.

Frank G. Zarb,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
NASD

Richard G. Ketchum,
President and Chief Operating
Officer, NASD

Salvatore F. Sodano,
Deputy Chief Operating Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, NASD

Gregor S. Bailar,
Executive Vice President and
Chief Information Officer, NASD

John L. Hilley,
Executive Vice President for Strategic
Development, NASD

James R. Allen,
Senior Vice President and Treasurer,
NASD

T. Grant Callery,
Senior Vice President and General
Counsel, NASD

Diane Carter,
Senior Vice President, Human
Resources, NASD

Steven Dean Furbush,
Senior Vice President, Economic
Research & Strategic Planning, NASD

Michael D. Jones,
Senior Vice President, Office of
Individual Investor Services, NASD

Robert D. Leahy,
Senior Vice President, and Senior
Communications Advisor, Office of
the Chairman, NASD

Daniel Shook,
Senior Vice President, Internal Review,
NASD

William D. Bone,
Vice President,Year 2000 Program
Office

Todd T. Diganci,
Vice President and Controller, NASD

Michael Edleson,
Vice President, Economic Research,
NASD

Frank Formica,
Vice President, Office of
Congressional and State Liaison,
NASD

Samuel E. Laughery,
Vice President, Production Services
Administration, NASD

Catherine C.Tighe,
Vice President, Administrative
Services, NASD

Bernard Thompson,
Vice President, Office of the
Ombudsman, NASD

Joan C. Conley,
Secretary of the Association

The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

Alfred R. Berkeley III,
President,The Nasdaq Stock
Market, Inc.

John T.Wall, President,
Nasdaq International, Ltd.

J. Patrick Campbell,
Executive Vice President, Nasdaq
Market Services

John M. Hickey,
Executive Vice President, Nasdaq
Technology Services & Chief
Technology Officer, NASD

L. Brian Holland, Executive Vice
President, Nasdaq Marketing

Robert E. Aber,
Senior Vice President and Nasdaq
General Counsel

Charles Balfour,
Senior Vice President, Nasdaq
International, Ltd.

Sherman W. Broka,
Senior Vice President, Nasdaq Trading
and Market Services

Mark DeNat,
Senior Vice President, Nasdaq Product
Development

Richard P. Gonzalez,
Senior Vice President, Nasdaq
Telecommunications, Quality
Assurance

Douglas A. Patterson,
Senior Vice President, Nasdaq Issuer
Services

Lawrence C. Poleshuck,
Senior Vice President, Nasdaq
Systems Engineering 

Glen R. Shipway,
Senior Vice President, Nasdaq Market
Operations

Beth E.Weimer,
Senior Vice President, Nasdaq
MarketWatch

William Wlcek,
Senior Vice President, Nasdaq,
Computer Operations and Quality
Control

Robert I. Bloom,
Vice President, Nasdaq
Telecommunications Operations

Donald H. Bosic,
Vice President, Nasdaq Interactive
Services

Gary Burke,
Vice President, Nasdaq West

Mark A. Esposito,
Vice President, Nasdaq Issuer Services

Glenn C. Faulkner,
Vice President, Nasdaq Business
Development

Virginia T. Glenn,
Vice President, Nasdaq
Communications

John L. Jacobs
Vice President, Nasdaq Investor
Relations

Margaret E. Kelly,
Vice President, Nasdaq International
Marketing

Eugene A. Lopez,
Vice President, Nasdaq Trading and
Market Services

Perry Peregoy
Vice President, Nasdaq Financial
Administration

Robert N. Riess,
Senior Vice President and Managing
Director, Nasdaq International Market
Initiatives

Gary N. Sundick,
Vice President, Nasdaq Listing
Investigations

S. Brian Wilson,
Vice President, Nasdaq East

NASD Regulation, Inc.

Mary L. Schapiro,
President, NASD Regulation, Inc.

Elisse B.Walter,
Executive Vice President and Chief
Operating Officer, NASD Regulation

Mary Alice Brophy,
Executive Vice President, Member
Regulation

Linda D. Fienberg,
Executive Vice President, Dispute
Resolution and the Chief Hearing
Officer

Barry R. Goldsmith,
Executive Vice President, Enforcement

R. Clark Hooper,
Executive Vice President, Disclosure
and Investor Protection

Alden S. Adkins,
Senior Vice President and General
Counsel, NASD Regulation

James M. Cangiano,
Senior Vice President, Office of Market
Regulation

Gerard F. Foley,
Senior Vice President, CRD/Public
Disclosure

Martin A. Kuperberg,
Senior Vice President, District 10

John P. Nocella,
Senior Vice President, District 9

Susan Baumann,
Vice President, Management Officer
and Assistant Treasurer

Frank J. Birgfeld,
Vice President, District 3

Warren A. Butler Jr.,
Vice President, District 5

Thomas R. Cassella,
Vice President, Member Regulation,
Compliance

Marilyn B. Davis,
Vice President, District 7

Joseph Furey,
Vice President and Deputy Chief
Hearing Officer

Thomas R. Gira,
Vice President, Market Regulation

Gary K. Liebowitz,
Vice President, District 10

Derek W. Linden,
Vice President and Chief Operating
Officer,Technology Services

Stephen I. Luparello,
Vice President, Office of Market
Regulation

Frank J. McAuliffe,
Vice President, Member Regulation,
Proctor Delivery Administration

David T. Miller,
Vice President,TS-Systems
Development and Improvement

John M. Ramsay,
Vice President, Deputy General
Counsel, NASD Regulation

Willis H. Riccio,
Vice President, District 11

Carlotta A. Romano,
Vice President, District 8

Jack Rosenfield,
Vice President, District 4

Thomas Selman, Vice President,
Investment Companies/
Corporate Financing

Roger B. Sherman,
Vice President, Enforcement

Daniel M. Sibears,
Vice President, Member Regulation
and District Oversight

WYNE
WYNT

XATA
XCED
XCEL
XCIT

XEIKY
XENO
XETA
XICO
XION
XIOX
XIRC
XLCT

XLNX
XLSW

XLTC
XNET

XNVAY
XOMA
XOMD
XOXC
XPED

XPRSA
XPRT
XRAY
XRIT

XSYS
XTEL

XTON
XTRM
XYBR
XYLN
YANB

YBTVA
YDNT
YELL
YESS
YFCB
YFED

YHOO
YILD

YOCM
YORK
YRKG

YSII
YURI

ZAGIF
ZAPS
ZBRA
ZEGG
ZEUS

ZHOM
ZICAF
ZIGO
ZILA
ZING
ZION
ZITL

ZMTX
ZNDTY

ZNRG
ZOLL
ZOLT

ZOMX
ZONA
ZOOM
ZRAN
ZSEV



NASD Corporate Information
Information and Services Directory www.nasd.com
Publications, Press Releases, Speeches www.nasd.com
Corporate Calendar www.nasd.com
Corporate Profile www.nasd.com
Bookstore and Gift Shop www.nasd.com

Market Information
Nasdaq, NYSE, AMEX, Mutual Fund Quotes www.nasdaq.com
Nasdaq Daily Share Volume Reports www.nasdaq.com
Nasdaq Monthly Share Volume Reports (with Market Maker Rankings) www.nasdaqtrader.com
Trading Halts of Nasdaq Securities www.nasdaqtrader.com
Stock Reports and Analyst Information www.nasdaq.com
Historical Market Data www.investor.nasd.com
Nasdaq IPOs and Company Deletions www.nasdaqnews.com

Nasdaq International Market Initiatives (NIMI)
NIMI Corporate Mission www.nimi.com
NIMI Products and Services www.nimi.com
NIMI Projects Newsletter www.nimi.com
Emerging Markets Information www.nimi.com

Professional Traders Market Information
Nasdaq Trading Services www.nasdaqtrader.com
Nasdaq Market Data Products www.nasdaqtrader.com
News for the Trading Community www.nasdaqtrader.com

Investment Services
On-Line Portfolio Tracking www.nasdaq.com
On-Line Financial Calculators www.investor.nasd.com
Interactive Training on Investment Basics www.investor.nasd.com
Guide on Working with a Broker www.investor.nasd.com
Investor Resources www.nasdr.com

Regulatory Services
Broker and Securities Firm Background www.nasdr.com
On-Line Comment on Proposed Rules www.nasdr.com
On-Line Complaint Filing www.nasdr.com
Arbitration and Mediation Information www.nasdr.com
Regulatory Advice www.nasdr.com
Registered Representative Information www.nasdr.com
Enforcement Actions www.nasdr.com

News Media Information Services
Breaking News www.nasdaqnews.com
Hourly Financial Markets Reports www.nasdaqnews.com
Electronic Press Kit www.nasdaqnews.com
On-Line Press Briefings www.nasdaqnews.com

Academic Research and Resources
Market Microstructure Paper Search www.academic.nasd.com
NASD Working Papers www.academic.nasd.com
NASD Academic Forum www.academic.nasd.com
Economic Advisory Board www.academic.nasd.com

Global Communications on Securities—The NASD on the Internet

http://www.nasd.com/ns_section1.html
http://www.nasdaq.com
http://www.nasdaq.com
http://www.nasdaqtrader.com/dynamic
http://www.investor.nasd.com
http://www.nasdaqnews.com
http://www.nimi.com
http://www.nasdaqtrader.com/dynamic
http://www.nasdaq.com
http://www.investor.nasd.com
http://www.nasdr.com
http://www.nasdaqnews.com
http://www.academic.nasd.com
http://www.nasdr.com
http://www.nasd.com/pub_module_menu.html
http://www.nasd.com/cc_module_menu.html
http://www.nasd.com/ns_section5.html
http://www.nasd.com/pr_module_menu.html
http://www.nasdaq.com
http://www.nasdaqtrader.com/dynamic
http://www.investor.nasd.com
http://www.investor.nasd.com
http://www.nasdaqtrader.com/dynamic
http://www.nasdaqtrader.com/dynamic
http://www.nimi.com
http://www.nasdr.com
http://www.nasdr.com
http://www.nasdr.com
http://www.nasdr.com
http://www.nasdr.com
http://www.nasdr.com
http://www.nasdaqnews.com
http://www.nasdaqnews.com
http://www.nasdaqnews.com
http://www.academic.nasd.com
http://www.academic.nasd.com
http://www.academic.nasd.com
http://www.nimi.com
http://www.nimi.com


National Association 
of Securities Dealers, Inc.
1735 K Street, NW

Washington, DC 20006-1500 

Telephone: (202) 728-8000

Inquiries: (301) 590-6500

Fax: (202) 293-6260

NASD/Nasdaq Financial Center
33 Whitehall Street

New York, NY 10004-2193

Telephone: (212) 858-4000

Fax: (212) 509-8436

NASD/NASD Regulation, Inc.
1390 Piccard Drive

Rockville, MD 20850

Telephone: (301) 590-6500

NASD/NASD Regulation, Inc.
5 Choke Cherry Road

Rockville, MD 20850

Telephone: (301) 417-6868

Fax: (301) 417-6540

NASD Operations Center
9513 Key West Avenue

Rockville, MD 20850-3389
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